

Norwegian College of Fishery Science, the Faculty of Bioscience, Fisheries and Economics

Chemical and Enzyme-Assisted Extraction of Fucoidan from two Species of Brown Macroalgae (*Ascophyllum nodosum* and *Saccharina latissima*)

Ingrid Maribu Master's thesis in Marine Biotechnology, BIO-3901, May 2021



Acknowledgements

I would like to start by thanking the Norwegian College of Fishery Science for 5 great years and who led me to discover my interest in macroalgae. I would like to express my gratitude to Nofima, in particular the Marine Bioprospecting group for allowing me to work with such an interesting field and continuous encouragement throughout the year. Especially thanks to my supervisors Tor Haug, Jan Arne Arnesen and Kjetil Elvevold.

Enough cannot be said to thank Jan Arne and Kjetil for all the guidance and encouragement they have given me throughout the year, helping me with lab work and analysis, for always answering my many emails and making everyday fun. Thanks to Tor for wanting to go through another round of being my supervisor, for great guidance in writing and expertise in phlorotannins.

I would also like to thank Runar Gjerp Solstad for great help with the chromatography methods, Ida Kristine Østnes Hansen for her expertise during the phlorotannin characterization and Kjersti Lian for reading and giving me feedback on my thesis.

I have to give a special thanks to my family and friends for their constant support and encouragement (and for pretending to understand what I have been talking about for the last year). Most of all, I would like to thank Elmedina for always putting a smile on my face during stressful times and long hours at the library, for her continuous understanding, ideas and encouragement. Special thanks to Marthe and Christina for taking the time to read my thesis.

Tromsø, May 2021

Ingrid Maribu

Abstract

Marine environments contain half of the global biodiversity and are a major source of bioactive compounds. Macroalgae are vital species in marine ecosystems and are known to produce several bioactive compounds and polysaccharides that possesses several bioactivities. These molecules are traditionally extracted using methods that heavily rely on hazardous solvents and heat, that more importantly generates waste and emissions. Sustainability has gained worldwide attention and has led scientists to explore more environmentally friendly extraction methods that have a lower environmental impact. The main goal of this thesis was to compare the fucoidan yield of a conventional method against a new, greener extraction method (enzymeassisted extraction, EAE) from two species of brown macroalgae commonly found in Norway: Ascophyllum nodosum and Saccharina latissima. In addition, the polyphenol/phlorotannin, alginate and monomeric sugars content was analyzed. The chemical extraction (CE) method was conducted at 80 °C for 4 hours with 0.1 M HCl. It was tested three different enzymes (Depol692, Depol 793 and Cellulase 13), in addition to a control sample were tested and compared in EAE. The EAE method was conducted at 50 °C for 3 hours with pH 5. The polyphenol/phlorotannin content was analyzed after lyophilization, while the carbohydrate-, Lfucose- and alginate content in the macroalgae were analyzed using two different methods of acid hydrolysis. The CE method resulted in a general higher fucose and carbohydrate yield from A. nodosum, indicating higher release of fucoidan and other polysaccharides compared to EAE. However, limited amounts of polyphenols/phlorotannins were detected in the samples after CE, indicating that the process may be harmful for the compounds. In contrast, the extraction yield of polyphenols/phlorotannins after EAE was good. In general, CE resulted in the higher extraction yield of fucoidan, compared to EAE. None of the enzymes used in this study showed a high efficiency compared to the control or CE. However, all enzymes showed potential in degrading the algal cell wall, but further studies are needed to make thorough conclusions on this potential.

Abbreviations

Α	Alginate pellet from EAE
ACN	Acetonitrile
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride
CE	Chemical extraction
DAD	Diode array detector
DM	Dry matter
DW	Dry weight
EAE	Enzyme-assisted extraction
ESI	Electrospray ionization
EtOH	Ethanol
FA	Formic acid
G block	α -L-guluronic acid
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
HP-SEC	High performance – size exclusion chromatography
HPLC	High performance – liquid chromatography
H ₂ SO ₄	Sulphuric acid
IEX	Ion exchange chromatography
L-FDH	L-fucose dehydrogenase
M block	β -D-mannuronic acid
M _n	Number average molecular weight
$\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{p}}$	Peak molecular weight
MS	Mass spectrometry
m/z	Mass-to-charge ratio
Mw	Weight average molecular weight
MW	Molecular weight

NADP+/NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
Р	Permeate fraction from EAE
PAD	Pulsed amperometric detector
PGE	Phloroglucinol equivalents
PGU	Phloroglucinol units
QToF	Quadrupole – Time of Flight
R	Retentate fraction from EAE
RID	Refractive index detector
SEC	Size – exclusion chromatography
TFA	Trifluroacetic acid
UPLC	Ultra performance – liquid chromatography

Table of Contents

A	cknowl	edgementsI
A	bstract	II
A	bbrevia	tions III
1	Intro	oduction1
	1.1	Background1
	1.2	Macroalgae1
	1.3	Brown macroalgae
	1.3.	1 Ascophyllum nodosum
	1.3.2	2 Saccharina latissima
	1.4	Valuable components from brown macroalgae4
	1.4.	1 Fucoidan
	1.4.2	2 Alginate
	1.4.3	3 Polyphenols
	1.5	Extraction of polysaccharides10
	1.5.1	1 Conventional extraction methods
	1.5.2	2 New, greener extraction methods
	1.	.5.2.1 Enzyme assisted extraction
	1.6	Methods for polymer analysis
	1.6.	1 Size exclusion chromatography
	1.6.2	2 Ion exchange chromatography
	1.6.3	3 High performance liquid chromatography – mass spectrometry
	1.6.4	4 Hydrolysis methods14
	1.7	Aim of the study15
2	Mat	erials and Methods16
	2.1	Biological material
	2.2	Enzymes

	2.3	Other chemicals	17
	2.4	Methods	17
	2.4.	1 Proximate analysis	17
	2.4.	2 Chemical extraction (CE)	17
	2.4.	3 Enzyme assisted extraction (EAE)	19
	2.4.	4 Molecular weight analysis of polysaccharides	
	2.4.	5 Hydrochloric acid and sulphuric acid hydrolysis	21
	2.4.	6 Carbohydrate analysis	
	2.4.	7 L-fucose assay	
	2.4.	8 Alginate assay	
	2.4.	9 Polyphenol assay	24
	2.4.	10 UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS	24
3	Res	ults	
	3.1	Proximate composition of fresh macroalgae	
	3.2	Dry matter content of the different samples	
	3.3	Molecular weight distribution of polysaccharides	
	3.4	Carbohydrate content	
	3.5	L-fucose content	
	3.6	Alginate content	
	3.7	Fractionated Depol 793 and control retentate from A. nodosum	
	3.8	Polyphenol content	
	3.9	Phlorotannin characterization	
	3.10	Total yield of valuable components	
4	Dise	cussion	45
	4.1	CE versus EAE	
	4.1.	1 Evaluation of CE	
	4.1.	2 Evaluation of Depol 692, Depol 793 and Cellulase 13	46

	4.1.3	Evaluation of alginate precipitation using CaCl ₂	47
	4.1.4	Evaluation of fucoidan isolation with ethanol versus ultrafiltration	48
	4.1.5	Evaluation of IEX-HPLC-RID versus L-fucose assay	49
	4.1.6	Fucose content	50
	4.1.7	Carbohydrate content	51
	4.1.8	MW distribution of polysaccharides	52
	4.1.9	Polyphenol content	53
	4.1.10	Phlorotannin characterization	54
4	.2 Нус	Irolysis with HCl versus H2SO4	55
4	.3 Lim	itations and further work	56
5	Conclusi	on	58
Ref	erences		59
Ap	pendix		66

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Marine environments contain half of the global biodiversity and has gained worldwide interest as a major source of bioactive compounds (Hunt et al., 2006) and screening marine organisms for novel bioactivity has become a huge field of research. Macroalgae are vital species in marine ecosystems (Barbosa et al., 2019) and are considered to be a sustainable natural resource. Macroalgae have gained a lot of interest for its great potential for different commercial applications, such as functional foods, feeds and nutraceuticals (Wijesinghe et al., 2012). Macroalgae are known for their production of several bioactive compounds such as sulphated polysaccharides and polyphenols (Barbosa et al., 2019). Traditionally, these molecules are extracted using methods that heavily rely on hazardous organic solvents and heat. These methods are both expensive and time consuming, and more importantly - generate waste material that often are released into the environment (Kadam et al., 2013). After the UN's 17 sustainability goals were approved, the topic of sustainability gained attention worldwide and this global shift has led scientists to explore more environmentally friendly extraction methods that has a lower environmental impact, compared to the conventional methods that are in use in the industry today (Giones et al., 2020; González-Ballesteros et al., 2020). There are several potential novel extraction methods that are being extensively researched. This includes enzymeassisted, ultrasound-assisted, microwave-assisted, pressurized liquid and supercritical fluid extraction (Kadam et al., 2013).

1.2 Macroalgae

Algae are efficient primary producers and account for approximately 10% of the global primary production (Barbosa *et al.*, 2019) as well as they are fundamental for all food chains in aquatic ecosystems (Pereira, 2015). Algae come in a range of sizes and are divided into two main categories, microalgae and macroalgae, based on their size. Microalgae are small, unicellular organisms, while macroalgae are bigger, multicellular organisms (Machmudah *et al.*, 2020). Macroalgae, commonly known as seaweeds, can be divided into three main groups; red algae (Rhodophyta), green algae (Chlorophyta) and brown algae (Phaeophyceae), depending on their pigmentation (Pereira, 2015). Macroalgae occur in marine, freshwater and estuarine

ecosystems, but are most diverse in marine ecosystems, especially in temperate regions (Macreadie *et al.*, 2017).

Macroalgae are a vast taxonomic group with high diversity with more than 10 000 species recorded worldwide (Barbosa *et al.*, 2019). Even though it is such a vast group of organisms, only 221 species are being exploited globally. In 2015, 30.4 million tons of macroalgae were harvested, where 29.4 million tons were cultivated, and 1.1 million tons were harvested from the wild. The global seaweed industry is worth more than 6 billion USD, where 85% are due to products made for human consumption. The global seaweed industry is also responsible for 40% of the worlds hydrocolloid market with food products that contain carrageenan, agar and alginate (FAO, 2018).

Macroalgae is a nutrient-rich food that has been utilized for centuries in Asian countries. They have pioneered the utilization of seaweeds for both food and medicinal purposes (Kadam *et al.*, 2015a; Padam *et al.*, 2020). Even though macroalgae is a traditional part in Asian diets, the usage as food is still rather new in western countries and steadily increasing (Murray *et al.*, 2018). The consumption of macroalgae has been linked to lower incidences of chronic diseases such as cancer and cardiovascular diseases, when Asian and western diets have been compared. It is believed that these potential health benefits are caused by different concentrations of bioactive compounds present in the macroalgae (Brown *et al.*, 2014). Macroalgae have traditionally been utilized as a source of polysaccharides as well as, minerals and vitamins. In addition, macroalgae are a good source of polyphenols, peptides, pigments, proteins, amino acids, lipids and other bioactive compounds. Despite this, biomolecules from macroalgae are still rather unexploited (Kadam *et al.*, 2015a).

1.3 Brown macroalgae

Brown macroalgae is a group of algae that contain around 2000 species, that are nearly exclusively marine species (Myklestad *et al.*, 2009). The characteristic brown color of brown macroalgae is due to a dominance of the pigment fucoxanthin. Fucoxanthin is a xanthophyll pigment that masks other pigments that are present, such as chlorophyll *a* and *c*, β -carotens and other xanthophylls (El Gamal, 2010).

Brown macroalgae, such as Fucales species dominate the rocky intertidal zones, and Laminariales species dominate the sublittoral zones. Laminariales species form large kelp forests (Myklestad *et al.*, 2009), that thrive in temperate and nutrient rich waters, where they serve as a foundation for ecosystems that supports fish, echinoderms, crustaceans and many

other species (Heckbert *et al.*, 2011). The brown macroalgal species inhabiting these zones are exposed to harsh environmental conditions, such as changes in light, oxygen and salinity levels. In addition, they are also prone to variations in levels of UV-radiation and pollution. As a result, brown macroalgae are more likely to undergo stress, as well as the formation of free radicals and oxidizing agents. Moreover, being photosynthesizing organisms, brown macroalgae are known for their ability to synthesize a wide array of polysaccharides and secondary metabolites to be able to protect themselves from the potentially threatening environmental conditions (Gupta *et al.*, 2011).

1.3.1 Ascophyllum nodosum

Ascophyllum nodosum (Linnaeus), also known as rockweed, belongs to the family Fucaceae (Pereira *et al.*, 2020), and is almost exclusively found in the north Atlantic. It dominates the rocky intertidal zones and is easily harvested (Kadam *et al.*, 2017). *A. nodosum* is very efficient in accumulating nutrients and minerals and is commonly harvested for food, fertilizers and animal feed (Pereira *et al.*, 2020). *A. nodosum* is one of the few species that are being harvested from the wild, accounting for less than 5% of the total amount of the global harvested seaweed (FAO, 2018). It is also a good source for different polysaccharides, which can make up to 69.6% of the algal DW. Ascophyllan is a sulphated polysaccharide exclusively produced by *A. nodosum*. Ascophyllan is very similar to other sulphated polysaccharides, like fucoidan, but contain a higher amount of xylose (Pereira *et al.*, 2020).

1.3.2 Saccharina latissima

Saccharina latissima (Linnaeus) belongs to the family Laminariaceae and is widely found in polar to temperate regions. It is widely known as sugar kelp due to its high contents of the sugar alcohol mannitol. The algae grow in sheltered regions attached to the seafloor (Lane *et al.*, 2006; Sharma *et al.*, 2018) and thrive in temperatures between 10 and 17 °C. Approximately half of the kelp forests made up of *S. latissima* in the world, is found along the Norwegian coast (Forbord *et al.*, 2020). Laminariaceae is one of the most important families of brown algae in the northern hemisphere and are found abundantly at depths between 8 to 30 m (Tiwari *et al.*, 2015). *S. latissima* is one of the few algae species that are being cultivated extensively for human consumption, but is also harvested from the wild (FAO, 2018). *S. latissima* is a good

source for different carbohydrates and the total carbohydrate composition can vary between 30 to 50% of its DW. Alginate is the most abundant carbohydrate in *S. latissima* (Saifullah *et al.*, 2021) and make up to 23% of the algal DW (Schiener *et al.*, 2017).

1.4 Valuable components from brown macroalgae

In addition to being crucial for the global primary production and aquatic ecosystems (Barbosa *et al.*, 2019), brown macroalgae are known to be rich in polysaccharides, minerals, vitamins and several bioactive compounds (Holdt *et al.*, 2011). The growth of brown macroalgae varies depending on the season where it will grow very little during the dark winter times and then grow fast during summer, which will influence the biochemical composition of the algae (Sharma *et al.*, 2018). Several of the components present in brown macroalgae will undergo seasonal variations and have a peak of maximum levels. In addition, the biochemical composition of brown macroalgae are affected by its environment and maturity (Schiener *et al.*, 2015), as well as it varies between the different parts of the algae (blade, stripe or thallus) (Holdt *et al.*, 2011).

The cell wall of brown macroalgae are made up of a wide array of structural polysaccharides, such as fucoidan, alginate and laminarin (Padam *et al.*, 2020). These polysaccharides can make up to 70% off the algal dry weight (DW) (Afonso *et al.*, 2019), but averages around 50% of its DW (Rioux *et al.*, 2015). Laminarin, together with mannitol serves as a carbohydrate storage and metabolite reserve in the brown macroalgae (El Gamal, 2010; Afonso *et al.*, 2019). Laminarin is made up of (1,3)- β -d-glucose units (Rioux *et al.*, 2015) and is found in high amounts in different species of kelp and can make up to 35% of the DW in *Saccharina latissima*. Laminarin is seasonally dependent and will have a maximum production during summer and autumn (Afonso *et al.*, 2019). Mannitol is also abundantly found in different species of brown macroalgae and can make up 20-30% of its DW. In addition to functioning as a carbohydrate reserve, they are local osmolytes (Rioux *et al.*, 2015).

Brown macroalgae is also a great source of phenolic compounds, such as polyphenols (Santos *et al.*, 2019). In addition, they contain a high abundance of different minerals such as iodine, calcium, magnesium, iron, sodium and potassium. Because of their structural features they have a great ability to accumulate minerals and can contain 30 000 times more iodine than any other edible plant (Afonso *et al.*, 2019). In addition, fucoxanthin has gained a lot of interest due to its promising antioxidant and antidiabetic activity (Gupta *et al.*, 2011; Afonso *et al.*,

2019). Brown macroalgae contain low amounts of lipids compared to other plants, but these lipids contain high amounts of essential fatty acids such as omega-3 (Hamid *et al.*, 2015).

1.4.1 Fucoidan

Fucoidans are a collective term used to describe polysaccharides that contain high amounts of L-fucose and sulphate ester groups. Fucoidans are water soluble polysaccharides that are important constituents in brown macroalgae and can be found in the fibrillar cell walls and extracellular matrix. (Li *et al.*, 2008; Ale *et al.*, 2011; Zayed *et al.*, 2020b). Fucoidans have several vital structural roles in the algae. They act as a cross-link between cellulose and hemicellulose and thereby promote cellular hydration and integrity, which is very important during drought seasons. In addition, fucoidans play important roles in cell-to-cell communication, for example during reproduction and innate immune responses (Zayed *et al.*, 2020b).

Fucoidans are highly heterogenous polysaccharides that have complex structures that varies between species (Zayed *et al.*, 2020a). Their backbone is built up of $\alpha(1-3)$ and $\alpha(1-4)$ linked L-fucopyranose, either alternating or consecutive of one type. They often have various substitutions and some of the most common are sulphate and acetate groups, but also glucose, galactose, xylose and mannose (Ale *et al.*, 2011; Hreggviðsson *et al.*, 2020). Fucoidans are often divided into two groups depending on their source. The first group, which includes *Fucus* and *Ascophyllum* species, are characterized by a backbone of alternating $\alpha(1-3)$ and $\alpha(1-4)$ linked L-fucopyranose residues (Figure 1, structure A) (Carvalho *et al.*, 2020). In this group sulphate ester substitutions are commonly found on C-2, but may also occur on C-4 and rarely on C-3, where SO₃⁻ is a common substitution on C-2 in *Ascophyllum nodosum* (Zayed *et al.*, 2020a). The second group, which includes *Laminaria* species, consists mainly of a backbone of $\alpha(1-3)$ linked L-fucopyranose residues (Figure 1, structure B) (Carvalho *et al.*, 2020). In this group, sugar substitutions commonly occur on C-2, while sulphate ester groups are commonly found on C-4. Common in *S. latissima* are OSO₃⁻ substitutions on C-2 and alternating OSO₃⁻ and H substitutions on C-4 (Zayed *et al.*, 2020a).



Figure 1. Structural models of the chemical structure of fucoidan retrieved from Cumashi *et al.* (2007). Structure *A* represent a fucoidan molecule with repeating $\alpha(1-3)$ and $\alpha(1-4)$ linked L-fucopyranose with a sulphate ester substitution on C-2. The different R groups represent different substitutions which will vary between species. Structure *B* represents a fucoidan molecule with repeating $\alpha(1-3)$ linked L-fucopyranose with a OSO₃⁻ (R) substitution on C-2.

Fucoidan has a high molecular weight (MW) ranging from 100 kDa to 16 000 kDa and has attracted a lot of interest due to its wide spectrum of potential bioactivities, such as anticoagulant, antiviral, antioxidant, antitumor, and anti-inflammatory activities (Gupta *et al.*, 2011; Carvalho *et al.*, 2020). The best studied bioactivity of fucoidans is its great anticoagulant activity. Isolated fucoidans have been tested for several types of anticoagulant activities, where all show great potential against activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) and thromboplastin time (TT) (Li *et al.*, 2008). The great anticoagulant potential of fucoidans are linked to the heparin cofactor II-mediated antithrombin activity (Ale *et al.*, 2011). In addition, the anticoagulant activity is linked to the sulphate content and the position of the sulphate group, as well as the sugar composition of the fucoidan and its MW in general, the higher amounts of sulphate groups, the higher anticoagulant activity (Li *et al.*, 2008).

Fucoidan also show great potential regarding antiviral activities, having low cytotoxicity compared to other antiviral drugs that are being used clinically today. Isolated fucoidans have shown antiviral effect against several virus infections, such as poliovirus III, adenovirus III and herpes simplex virus (Li *et al.*, 2008). Due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, this activity is especially interesting. In a study by Kwon *et al.* (2020), described a potent antiviral activity by means of a tight binding of the virus spike-protein to the tested

fucoidans. Thus, fucoidan can potentially be used as a competitor for the S-protein in SARS-Cov-2, inhibiting binding to host receptors and thereby inhibiting viral infection (Kwon *et al.*, 2020).

1.4.2 Alginate

Alginate, also known as alginic acid, is a linear, anionic polysaccharide, that are naturally found in brown macroalgae (Hreggviðsson *et al.*, 2020). Alginate content can vary from 17 to 45% of the brown macroalgae's DW (Manns *et al.*, 2017) and is an important structural component in the thalli and the cell wall of the macroalgae, as well as it is found abundantly in the intercellular matrix. It provides the macroalgae with flexibility and is involved in the exchange of different ions, such as magnesium and calcium, with seawater (Rioux *et al.*, 2015).

Alginate is a polymer made up of 1-4 linked residues of α -L-guluronic acid (G) and β -D-mannuronic acid (M) that are arranged in a block wise pattern (Jensen *et al.*, 2015). The polymers can either be composed of consecutive G blocks (Figure 2, structure A), consecutive M blocks (Figure 2, structure B), or alternating G and M blocks (Figure 2, structure C) (Lee *et al.*, 2012). The ratio of G and M blocks will vary, depending on the species, season of harvest and geographical location (Jensen *et al.*, 2015). In addition, the G and M ratio can vary in different parts of the algae. For instance, the leaves in *Laminaria hyperborea* contain a higher amount of mannuronic acids, while the stripe contains a higher amount of guluronic acid. Similarly, the fruiting bodies in *A. nodosum* contain a higher amount of mannuronic acids, compared to older tissue that have more guluronic acids (Puscaselu *et al.*, 2020).

Alginate have different solubility depending on species, polymer concentration, pH, as well as the presence of different ions. Some alginates are soluble in hot water, while others are soluble in cold water. Generally, alginic acids are insoluble in acidic conditions as well as in the presence of different ions, such as calcium ions (Ca^{2+}) (Rioux *et al.*, 2015). However, alginate is known for its great gelling abilities in the presence of divalent cations, such as calcium ions (Jensen *et al.*, 2015; Carvalho *et al.*, 2020). The gelling abilities of alginates from different species are dependent on the M/G ratio of the backbone, while the viscosity is determined by the MW. Alginates with a low M/G ratio will form stiff gels, while alginates with a high M/G ratio will from more flexible gels (Jensen *et al.*, 2015). Because of this ability alginate is utilized for several food applications as a potential thickening, gelling and stabilizing agent which is added to several foods, such as ice cream, dressings and beer. Alginate is also

utilized for medicinal purposes as a coagulant and may also be used as an immunostimulatory agent (Kumar *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 2. Different structures of sodium alginate, retrieved from Kumar *et al.*, (2017). Structure A represents an alginate made up of consecutive G blocks (α -L-guluronic acid). Structure B represents an alginate made up of consecutive M blocks (β -D-mannuronic acid). Structure C represents an alginate made up of alternating G and M blocks.

1.4.3 Polyphenols

Brown macroalgae are a good source of different phenolic compounds, that varies from simple polyphenols and flavonoids, to more complex phlorotannins (Santos *et al.*, 2019). Polyphenols play several important roles in the brown macroalgae, ranging from being important structural components in the cell wall to functioning as their defense system against infections, bacteria, grazers and ultraviolet radiation (Afonso *et al.*, 2019; Aminina *et al.*, 2020). The concentration of polyphenols vary greatly between species, where the order Fucales species have the highest total polyphenol content documented in brown macroalgae (Jiménez-Escrig *et al.*, 2012). Some polyphenols are documented to be tightly bonded to cell wall polysaccharides through both hydrophilic and hydrophobic bonds (Wijesinghe *et al.*, 2012). Polyphenols are water soluble

molecules that are commonly extracted using polar solvents (Aminina *et al.*, 2020). Unfortunately, extraction of polyphenols has proven to be problematic, so the presence of these molecules is estimated using a few simple colorimetric methods. Characterization have also proven problematic due to the structural complexity. However several chromatographic methods have been developed for better identification and characterization of polyphenols (Lopes *et al.*, 2018). A study conducted by Koivikko (2008), used chromatographic methods to identify phlorotannins, and reported an absorbance maximum for phloroglucinol at approximately 270 nm.

Phlorotannins are a group of polyphenols that is recognized as the reason for the high abundance of phenolic compounds in brown macroalgae (Santos et al., 2019). Phlorotannins are almost exclusively produced by species belonging to the class of Phaeophyceae and are very abundant in many species (Afonso et al., 2019). Phlorotannins are synthesized though the acetate-malonate pathway and are built up of phloroglucinol units (PGU) (Figure 3, structure A). They are hydrophilic molecules (Murray et al., 2018) that range from 126 Da to 100 kDa in size (Heffernan et al., 2015). Phlorotannins can be divided into several groups depending on the linkages that bind the units together (Ferreres et al., 2012). Fucols represent the simplest group of phlorotannins where the phloroglucinol units are linked together by carbon-carbon linkages, (Figure 3, structure B). The group phlorethols is a result of radical carbon-oxygen couplings and consist of both phloroglucinol units and ether bonding's (Figure 3, structure C). Fucophlorethols include all derivatives that contain both carbon-carbon linkages and carbonoxygen linkages (Figure 3, structure D). Fuhalols is a more complex group that have an additional hydroxyl group on the phloroglucinol units (Figure 3, structure E). Eckols have a specific intramolecular cyclization, which is formed by dibenzodioxin linkages (Figure 3, structure F) (Kornprobst, 2010). Isofuhalols is a variation of fuhalols (Figure 3, structure F) that only have para and meta oriented ether bonds relative to its substituents (Creis et al., 2018)

Within each of these groups of phlorotannins, it is possible to have both structural and conformational isomers of each phlorotannin (i.e., different compounds with identical elemental composition), making the complexity and variability of these molecules extreme. It is a field of research that is considered to be almost unlimited due to the structural complexity. There are more than 150 phlorotannins identified today from several species of algae (Barbosa

et al., 2019). Phlorotannins have been reported to contain several different bioactivities, such as antioxidant, anticancer and antibacterial activity (Peng *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 3. Structural models of the different phlorotannin groups modified from Kornprobst (2010) and Creis *et al.* (2018). Structure A is phloroglucinol, that is the structural unit in all phlorotannins. Structure B is difucol, belonging to the group of fucols. Structure C is diphlorethol, belonging to the group of phlorethols. Structure D is fucophlorethol A, belonging to the group of fucophlorethols. Structure E is bifuhalol, belonging to the group of fuhalols. Structure F is eckol, belonging to the group of eckols. Structure G is tetraisofuhalol, belonging to the group of isofuhalols. The linkages that characterize the different groups are highlighted in orange.

1.5 Extraction of polysaccharides

1.5.1 Conventional extraction methods

The relationship between the chemical structure of polysaccharides and their bioactivity is very important. Harsh extraction methods can influence the structure of the polysaccharide (i.e., thermal degradation) and even the smallest of changes can affect the activity. Therefore, the choice of extraction method is crucial and there are several common extraction methods used

for macroalgae (Garcia-Vaquero *et al.*, 2017). Conventional extraction methods heavily rely on hazardous solvents, such as methanol, acetone, hydrochloric acid (HCl) and ethanol, as well as considerable amounts of heat (Getachew *et al.*, 2020). The main objective of every extraction method is to maximize the yield of the compounds of interest (Garcia-Vaquero *et al.*, 2020).

Chemical extraction of macroalgae will exploit the solubility of the cell wall under different conditions, resulting in the release of components (Nguyen et al., 2020). Distillation techniques have commonly been used to extract polysaccharides from macroalgae, as well as other natural compounds. The method is used to separate multicomponent liquids by using selected boiling points of components present in the liquid, followed by a condensation step. Maceration is another widely used method for extraction of polysaccharides from macroalgae. It is a type of solid extraction that uses the solubility of the desired compound by carefully selecting a solvent with the right polarity and applying heat. The extraction takes a long time and has a low efficiency (Garcia-Vaquero et al., 2020; Nguyen et al., 2020). This method has, for instance, been widely used to extract fucoidan from the algal cell wall (Nguyen *et al.*, 2020). Fucoidan extraction is very often followed by precipitation with ethanol (Ale et al., 2011) and ethanol is considered to be an expensive solvent (Rioux et al., 2015). One of the major drawbacks of conventional extraction methods are the coextraction of other polysaccharides as well as the low extraction yield. In addition, there is a difficulty of upscaling to industrial levels, due to the substantial energy requirements of conventional methods. Several environmental conditions regarding high volume of solvents, emission and storage, also needs to be addressed. And last but not least, it is extremely expensive to generate industrial plants that are able to handle such large quantities of hazardous waste (Getachew et al., 2020).

Despite this, conventional extraction methods are widely used in the industry and by researchers today (Flórez-Fernández *et al.*, 2020; Garcia-Vaquero *et al.*, 2020), however there are several new, greener methods being extensively researched to overcome several of the disadvantages concerning the conventional methods (Kadam *et al.*, 2013; Nguyen *et al.*, 2020).

1.5.2 New, greener extraction methods

Bioactive compounds are often very sensitive and may be altered by harsh extraction methods. Therefore, the choice of extraction method is crucial to avoid modifications of the desired molecules. There are several new, green methods under development to reduce the energy consumption, emissions, cost and increase the safety and quality of the product (Flórez-Fernández *et al.*, 2020; Nguyen *et al.*, 2020). This includes methods such as enzyme-assisted

extraction, ultrasound-assisted extraction, microwave-assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction and pressurized liquid extraction (Kadam *et al.*, 2013; Nguyen *et al.*, 2020).

1.5.2.1 Enzyme assisted extraction

Enzyme assisted extraction (EAE) is considered to be a sustainable and efficient alternative to the conventional solvent-based extraction methods that are in use today. EAE uses enzymes and their characteristic properties to carry out a specific reaction (Puri *et al.*, 2012; Nadar *et al.*, 2018). Enzymes are vital proteins that are involved in all metabolic processes and are highly specific catalysts. EAE makes it possible to extract valuable components from seaweed without using denaturizing conditions, high temperatures and organic solvents. It takes advantage of the various enzyme's disruptive abilities in the molecular environment, which will lead to a higher extraction yield of the targeted molecules (Terme *et al.*, 2020). Enzymes have proven to be useful tools in hydrolysis of macroalgae to facilitate the release of different components (Hreggviðsson *et al.*, 2020).

Macroalgae have cell walls that are made up of complex biomolecules, such as sulphated and branched polysaccharides, that are often associated with lipids, calcium and potassium (Kadam et al., 2013). The cell wall limits the accessibility of bioactive molecules, and it is therefore essential to degrade the various contents of the cell wall. EAE has been successfully employed as an alternative extraction method in macroalgae, as it successfully degrades the algal cell wall with a substantial yield. The choice of enzyme is important as the cell wall is chemically complex and the components are highly connected (Wijesinghe et al., 2012). Hydrolytic enzymes have shown the ability to more efficiently disrupting and/or degrading the cell wall and membranes of the macroalgae compared to other techniques (Flórez-Fernández et al., 2020). EAE will therefore, in theory, result in a higher accessibility of bioactive molecules and result in a higher extraction yield. However, for the extraction to reach its full potential, it is important for the enzyme to work under optimal conditions (Kadam et al., 2013). To obtain the maximum enzymatic reaction rate it is important to maintain the reaction at optimal temperature, pH, enzyme concentration and substrate concentration. Enzymes are temperature sensitive, and the reaction rate often increase parallel with thermal values as the viscosity decrease. EAE is often performed in acidic conditions as it will increase the cellular plasticity by destabilization of hydrogen bonds. The wrong pH can influence the binding capacity of the enzyme to the substrate and negatively influence the enzymatic reaction rate. The enzymatic concentration is highly correlated to the extraction time. As enzyme activity decrease over time it is important to find the right ratio and the reaction time can often be divided in half by doubling the concentration of enzymes (Muniglia *et al.*, 2014). Compared to conventional extraction methods, EAE is often more cost-efficient as well as it will reduce the extraction time and the use of solvents (Kadam *et al.*, 2013).

1.6 Methods for polymer analysis

1.6.1 Size exclusion chromatography

Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) is a form of liquid chromatography that separates molecules based on their weight and size. This method is also referred to as gel permeation chromatography, where the mobile phase is an organic solvent, or gel filtration chromatography, where the mobile phase is an aqueous solution (Batool *et al.*, 2020). The stationary phase is usually composed of porous particles that act like a "reversed filter" that allows small molecules to penetrate the pores in the particles while larger molecules pass outside of the particles. This allows for larger molecules to elute first, while smaller molecules elute later based on their interactions with the stationary phase (Mansoor, 2005). SEC is commonly used to determine the MW of polysaccharides present in macroalgae (Kadam *et al.*, 2015b). Refractive index detectors (RID) are often used in the characterization of polymer weight distribution (Zhang *et al.*, 2019).

1.6.2 Ion exchange chromatography

Ion exchange chromatography (IEX) separates ions and polar molecules based on their differences in charge. The stationary phase will consist of a charged solid surface (a resin or gel with covalently linked charged molecules) that will interact with molecules with opposite charge in the sample/mobile phase. There are two types of IEX, cationic and anionic. Cationic exchange is used when the molecules of interest are positively charged, and the stationary phase is made up of a negatively charged support. The molecules of interest will elute based on their interaction with the stationary phase and changes of the mobile phase. In anionic exchange, the molecules of interest are negatively charged, and the stationary phase is positively charged (Batool *et al.*, 2020).

Several chromatographic methods have been developed to analyze the carbohydrate content in different samples and ion chromatography is the most widely used for separation of monosaccharides. Once the monosaccharides are separated, they are detected using different detectors, where a RID is often used (Galant *et al.*, 2015). RID is a universal bulk property detector (Swartz, 2010) that measures the difference in refractive index of the sample compared to a reference and is therefore widely used in sugar detections, as native sugars do not contain a chromophore or fluorophore (Galant *et al.*, 2015).

1.6.3 High performance liquid chromatography – mass spectrometry

Mass spectrometry (MS) is a common detection method used in combination with chromatography that operates by converting analyte molecules into an ionized (charged) state. During the ionization process, ions (and fragmented ions) will be analyzed on their mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) (Pitt, 2009). The m/z ratio is defined as the mass (m) of an ion divided by the charge (z) of the ion, which can be used to determine the molecular mass of the ion detected (Todd, 1991). The most common ionization method is electrospray ionization (ESI). ESI converts ions into their gaseous phase by using electrical energy before MS analysis (Ho *et al.*, 2003). Diode array detector (DAD) are commonly used in liquid chromatography. It is a type of UV detector that provides measures the absorbance at a number of different wavelengths, providing specificity in quantifying compounds (Senyuva, 2014). Quadruple (Q) analyzer is also commonly used in MS analysis which uses as system of four parallel metal rods that separates ions (based on their m/z) using voltage (Ho *et al.*, 2003). The time it takes for the ions to reach the detector can be measured using a time of flight (ToF) analyzer. Each mass has a unique flight time, which is based on the ions' m/z values (Pitt, 2009).

Due to the high complexity of algal phlorotannins, chromatographic methods have been preferred for characterization (Steevensz *et al.*, 2012). Modern High-Resolution ToF-MS instruments have the ability to measure the exact masses of ions and fragmented ions with a high accuracy. Since every element has its own unique mass, it is also possible to generate chemical formulas for the unknown compounds using this technology (Sleno, 2012).

1.6.4 Hydrolysis methods

Carbohydrates from macroalgae have gained attention as a resource for high value carbohydrates. The carbohydrate content in macroalgae is often analyzed after acid hydrolysis.

The hydrolysis will hydrolyze polysaccharides into monosaccharides and the optimal hydrolysis method varies depending on the material and it is therefore no universal method. For materials rich in uronic acids, hydrolysis with HCl or trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) is preferred, while hydrolysis with sulphuric acid is preferred for biomasses rich in lignocellulose. Different hydrolysis methods may influence the chemical composition in the algae, resulting in different results (Manns *et al.*, 2014). Manns *et al.* (2014) states that the use of a two-step sulphuric acid hydrolysis is the best method for quantitative determination of carbohydrates in seaweed, compared to TFA hydrolysis. Megazyme (2018) suggest hydrolysis with 1.3 M HCl, followed by neutralization with 1.3 M sodium hydroxide (NaOH) as a pretreatment to estimate L-fucose in polysaccharides and fibrous plants.

1.7 Aim of the study

The main goal of this study is to compare the extraction efficacy of a new, green method of extraction against a selected conventional chemical extraction method. As a green method, enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) is chosen, and as a conventional method, chemical extraction (CE) with hydrochloric acid is chosen. The main target compound for comparing the two extraction methods will be fucoidan, but also the yield of alginate, polyphenols and monomeric sugars will be analyzed. The extractions will be performed on two common brown macroalgal species in Norway: *Ascophyllum nodosum* and *Saccharina latissima*.

Sub goals are to:

- Evaluate the efficiency of the different enzymes used in EAE.
- Evaluate the efficiency of fucoidan isolation (precipitation with ethanol versus ultrafiltration)
- Evaluate the efficiency of alginate precipitation using CaCl₂
- Examine the carbohydrate and polyphenol content after extraction
- Compare two different acid hydrolysis methods

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Biological material

Sugar kelp, *Saccharina latissima* (L.) (*S. latissima*) (former known as *Laminaria saccharina*) was provided by Seaweed Energy Solutions AS (Trondheim, Norway). The kelp was harvested the 27th of April 2019 and frozen the same day (-30 °C). Rockweed, *Ascophyllum nodosum* (L.) (*A. nodosum*) were collected the 12th of October 2020 in Hamna (Tromsø, Norway) and frozen the same day (-30 °C).

2.2 Enzymes

The enzymes used for extraction were the broad-spectrum enzyme Depol 692L, the multifunctional enzyme Depol 793L and Cellulase 13L, all purchased from Biocatalysts (London, United Kingdom). The optimum conditions and the characteristics for each enzyme is summarized in table 1.

Table 1. Optimum hydrolysis conditions, main activities as well as other activities of the different enzymes used in this study. The information is retrieved from their respective safety data sheet (Biocatalysts, 2015a, 2015b, 2015c)

Enzyme	pH optimum	Temperature optimum (°C)	Main activity	Other activities
Depol 692L	4.0-6.0	50 - 60	Cellulase (> 800 U/g); hydrolysis of (1,4) β - D-glucosidic linkages in β -D-glucans	Ferulic acid esterase
			Pectinase (endo-galacturonase) (> 535 U/g); hydrolysis of pectin	Hemicellulase
Depol 793L	4.0 – 7.0 (optimal pH is 6.0)	40-50	β-glucanase (> 5.500 U/g); hydrolysis of $β$ - (1,3)- or (1,4)- linkages in $β$ -D-glucans Pectin lyase (> 5.000 U/g); hydrolysis of pectin Cellulase > (1.200 U/g); hydrolysis of (1,4) $β$ -D-glucosidic linkages in $β$ -D-glucans	Ferulic acid esterase
Cellulase 13L	3.5 - 6.0	50 - 70	Cellulase (> 1.500 U/g); hydrolysis of (1,4) β -D-glucosidic linkages in β -D-glucans	Cellobiase β -glucosidase β -glucanase

2.3 Other chemicals

Ethanol (EtOH) was purchased from (Antibac AS, Norway). Calcium chloride (CaCl₂), Folin-Ciocalteus Phenol reagent, sulphuric acid 95-97% (H₂SO₄), glacial acetic acid, sodium hydroxide (NaOH), D(+)-Xylose, sodium carbonate and formic acid (FA) were purchased from Merck KGaA (Dramstadt, Germany). Hydrochloric acid (HCl), phloroglucinol, D-mannitol, α -L(-)-Fucose, fucoidan extracted form *Fucus vesiculosus*, sodium alginate, sodium tetraborate decahydrate and 3,5-Dimetylphenol were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Saint Louis, MO, USA). D(+)-Glucose anhydrous was purchased from VWR chemicals (Radnor, PA, USA). Acetonitrile (ACN), formic acid (FA) and water of analytical grade were purchased from Honeywell (Charlotte, NC, USA). The L-Fucose assay kit was purchased form Megazyme (Bray, Ireland) and contains an L-fucose standard, buffer (pH 9.5), β -NADP and L-fucose dehydrogenase (L-FDH). Pullulan standards were purchased from PSS-Polymer (Amherst, MA, USA). Distilled water was obtained from ELGA Purelab Chorus 2⁺ (Veolia Water, UK).

2.4 Methods

2.4.1 Proximate analysis

The water and dry matter (DM) content in *S. latissima* and *A. nodosum* were determined in triplicates by drying the biomass at 105 °C overnight. The amount of ash was determined by drying the remaining residues in a Carbolite-Gero AAF 11 (Neuhausen, Germany) muffle furnace at 550 °C for 24 hours.

2.4.2 Chemical extraction (CE)

A modified extraction method suggested by Nguyen *et al.* (2020) was followed and Figure 4 shows the workflow of the study. The extraction was performed on homogenized (Polytron PT 45-80 GT, Kinematica AG, Malters, Switzerland) brown macroalgae in the ratio of 50 g DM to 1 L (1:20) 0.1 M HCl, at 80 °C for 4 hours under constant stirring (60 rpm) using an IKA[®] LR 1000 basic reactor (IKA, China). The pH of the solution was measured to be 1.4 using a Seven Go pH meter (Mettler Toledo, Columbus, OH, USA). After extraction, the solution was centrifuged at 7000 G for 20 min using Avanti JXN-26 (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA)

and the supernatant was collected. The residual pellet was discarded. Alginate was precipitated from the supernatant by adding 2% CaCl₂ (w/v) and incubating at 4 °C overnight. The samples were centrifuged as described above and the supernatant was collected. The alginate residual pellet was dried at 105 °C and stored in a 50 mL Falcon tube (Sigma Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA) at room temperature until hydrolysis with HCl and H₂SO4 and carbohydrate, L-fucose and alginate analysis.

Fucoidan was precipitated and isolated from the supernatant by adding 72% EtOH (v/v), followed by centrifugation at 7000 G for 40 min. The ethanol was evaporated from the supernatant using a BUCHI rotavapor R-215 (Sigma Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA). The precipitated fucoidan pellet and supernatant was lyophilized and stored in 50 mL Falcon tubes at room temperature before MW determination, polyphenol/phlorotannin analysis and hydrolysis with HCl and H₂SO₄.



Figure 4. Flowchart for the chemical extraction (CE) method. Extraction was preformed using 0.1 M HCl, followed by alginate precipitation with 2% CaCl₂ which was dried at 105 °C. Fucoidan was precipitated from the supernatant with 72% EtOH. The supernatant and fucoidan pellet were lyophilized. Lyophilized material was used to estimate the molecular weight (MW) distribution of polysaccharides in the samples, as well as to estimate the polyphenol content and for phlorotannin characterization. Two hydrolysis methods were performed on the lyophilized material, one with sulphuric acid and one with hydrochloric acid. After hydrolysis, the material was analyzed for monomeric sugars, fucose content and alginate content.

2.4.3 Enzyme assisted extraction (EAE)

A modified extraction method suggested by Nguyen *et al.* (2020) was followed and Figure 5 shows the workflow of the study. Extraction was performed on homogenized *A. nodosum* in the ratio 1 kg wet algae to 3.48 L (1:7) distilled water and homogenized *S. latissima* including its drip loss. The pH of the homogenized brown macroalgae was adjusted to pH 5 using 1 M HCl. The *A. nodosum* homogenate was divided into 4 samples of 750 mL (64.5 g DM) each and the *S. latissima* homogenate was divided into 4 samples of 400 mL (20 g DM) each. The enzymes (Depol 692L, Depol 793L and Cellulase 13L) were added to separate samples constituting 0.25% of the total volume. The fourth sample was used as an untreated control. The enzymatic treatment was conducted at 50 °C for 3 hours under constant stirring (60 rpm) in an IKA[®] LR 1000 basic reactor. After extraction, the samples were centrifuged at 7000 G for 15 min and the supernatants were collected while the residual pellet was discarded. Alginate was precipitated from the supernatant by adding 2% CaCl₂ (w/v) and incubating at 4 °C overnight. The samples were centrifuged as described above and the supernatant of each sample was collected. The alginate residual pellet (A) was dried at 105 °C and stored in 50 mL Falcon tubes at room temperature until analysis.

The collected supernatants were filtered through a Whatman No. 4 filter to remove any particles. The filtrates were further ultra-filtrated using a Millipore Labscale TFF system (Merck Millipore, Brulington, MA, USA) coupled with Millipore Pellicon XL Biomax polyethersulfone membranes. To isolate fucoidan of different sizes, membranes with a molecular cut-off of 100 kDa was used. Both retentates (R) and permeates (P) were collected and lyophilized. The filtrates were stored in 50 mL Falcon tubes at room temperature before MW determination, polyphenol/phlorotannin analysis and hydrolysis with HCl and H₂SO₄.



Figure 5. Flowchart of the enzyme assisted extraction (EAE) method. Extraction was performed on homogenized brown macroalgae, using three different enzymes (Depol 692, Depol 793 and Cellulase 13), followed by alginate precipitation with 2% CaCl₂ and drying of alginate pellet at 105 °C. Ultrafiltration was performed on the supernatant to separate components based on their molecular weight (MW) using a membrane with molecular cut off of 100 kDa. The retentate and permeate was then lyophilized. Lyophilized material was used to estimate the MW distribution of polysaccharides in the samples, as well as to estimate the polyphenol content and for phlorotannin characterization. Two hydrolysis methods were performed on the lyophilized material, one with sulphuric acid and one with hydrochloric acid. After hydrolysis, the material was analyzed for monomeric sugars, fucose content and alginate content.

2.4.4 Molecular weight analysis of polysaccharides

The MW of polysaccharides present in the lyophilized samples were analyzed with highperformance size exclusion chromatography (HP-SEC) using a LC-20AT apparatus equipped with a CTO-20A column oven, an SPD-M20A diode array detector and a RID-20A refractive index detector (all from Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). The MW of the polysaccharides were analyzed using a 300×8 mm Shodex SB-806 HQ GPC column (ShodexTM, Japan), fitted with a 50×6 mm Shodex SB-G guard column (ShodexTM, Japan). The target MW range of the column is 100 to 20 000 kDa (Shodex, 2020). Lyophilized material from CE (supernatant and fucoidan pellet) and EAE (retentate and permeate) was dissolved in the mobile phase of 0.1 M Sodium acetate (pH 6) to a final concentration of 25 mg/mL. The analysis was conducted at 40 °C with an injection volume of 50 μ L at an isocratic flow rate of 0.5 mL/min for 40 min (Nguyen *et al.*, 2020). Pullulan samples with MW of 1600, 800, 400, 110, 12, 5 and 1 kDa were used as standards. The data was then analyzed using the software GPC Postrun (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan).

During HP-SEC, the peaks of Depol 793 retentate and Control retentate from *A. nodosum* were fractionated and collected using an FRC-10A fraction collector (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan), and lyophilized. The fractions were stored in a 50 mL Falcon tubes at room temperature before hydrolysis with HCl and H₂SO₄ and carbohydrate, L-fucose and alginate analysis.

2.4.5 Hydrochloric acid and sulphuric acid hydrolysis

Two different methods of hydrolysis were performed and compared. A modified HCl hydrolysis protocol, suggested by Megazyme (2018) for determination of L-fucose in polysaccharides and fibrous plant material was followed. For hydrolysis, 100 mg of lyophilized material from CE and EAE, dried alginate residual pellets and fucoidan standard were dissolved in 1 mL distilled water, in separate tubes. A volume of 5 mL of 1.3 M HCl was added to each sample and the tubes were incubated at 105 °C for 1 hour. The tubes were then cooled to room temperature and an additional 5 mL of 1.3 M NaOH was added. The samples were then frozen until carbohydrate-, L-fucose- and alginate analysis was performed.

A modified two step sulphuric acid hydrolysis based on Sterner *et al.* (2017), Nguyen *et al.* (2020) and Okolie *et al.* (2020) were followed. For this hydrolysis method, 30 mg of lyophilized material from CE and EAE, dried alginate residual pellets, fucoidan standard and fractionated peaks from HP-SEC were individually soaked in 300 μ L of 72% (w/w) H₂SO₄. The samples were incubated at 30 °C for 1 hour. In the second step of the hydrolysis, the samples were diluted to 4% (w/w) H₂SO₄ by adding distilled water. This was followed by autoclaving in a TOMY SX-700 E High pressure steam sterilizer (TOMY, San Diego, CA, USA) for 40 min at 121 °C. The samples were then and frozen until carbohydrate-, L-fucose-and alginate analysis was performed.

2.4.6 Carbohydrate analysis

The monomeric sugars (glucose, xylose, mannitol and fucose) present in the different hydrolyzed samples from CE (supernatant, fucoidan pellet and alginate pellet) and EAE (R, P and A) were analyzed by ion-exchange high-performance liquid chromatography using a LC-20AT apparatus equipped with a CTO-20A column oven and a RID-20A refractive index detector (IEX-HPLC-RID) (all from Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). The monomeric sugars were separated using a 300×7.8 mm Rezex ROA-Organic acid H+ (8%) analytic column fitted with a Carbo-H 4×3.0 mm guard column (all from Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA).

The hydrolyzed material from CE (supernatant, fucoidan pellet and alginate pellet), EAE (retentate, permeate and alginate) and the fractioned peaks from HP-SE was first centrifuged at 1246 G (Eppendorf Centrifuge 5810 R, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint-Louis, MO, USA) for 10 min to remove any particles. The process was then conducted at 65 °C with an injection volume of 10 μ L (9.09 mg/mL) of hydrolyzed material, and a mobile phase of 5 mM H₂SO₄ at an isocratic flow rate of 0.6 mL/min for 30 min (Sharma *et al.*, 2018). The HPLC column's stationary phase is made up of sulfonated styrene-divinylbenzene (Phenomenex, 2017). The sulfonation of the column results in a negatively charged environment allowing neutrally and positively charged molecules to pass though the column, based on their pKa (Transgenomic, 2007). Prior to sample analysis, glucose, xylose, mannitol and fucose standards in concentrations of 2.5, 1.0, 0.5, 0.25 and 0.1 g/L were run to generate standard curves for the different monomeric sugars (Appendix, Figure A1-A4)

2.4.7 L-fucose assay

The hydrolyzed material from CE (supernatant, fucoidan pellet and alginate pellet), EAE (retentate, permeate and alginate) and fractionated peaks from HP-SEC was first centrifuged at 1246 G for 10 min to remove any particles. The L-fucose assay was performed on 10 μ L (9.09 mg/mL) hydrolyzed material (two parallels) from both hydrolysis methods according to suggested protocols (Megazyme, 2018). Into each well of a Nunc 96-well microplate, 10 μ L sample/standard (L-fucose standard solution and fucoidan), 200 μ L distilled water, 40 μ L buffer solution and 10 μ L NADP⁺ was added. The absorbance was measured at 340 nm using a SpectraMax[®] i3x microplate reader. A volume of 5 μ L of L-FDH was added to each well and the absorbance was then measured every 2 min for 30 min. In this assay, the oxidization of L-

fucose by L-FDH in the presence of NADP⁺, resulting in the increase of NADPH being measured (Megazyme, 2018). The estimated fucose content was calculated using Formula 1.

Formula 1:

$$mg/mL = \frac{\Delta A sample}{\Delta A standard} * mg/mL standard * F$$

F = dilution factor

Formula was retrieved from (Megazyme, 2018).

2.4.8 Alginate assay

A modified protocol suggested by Usov *et al.* (1995) was followed. Prior to the alginate assay, two solutions were made. A borate solution was made by adding solid NaOH to a 20% suspension of borate in distilled water until complete dissolution. A 3,5-Dimethylphenol solution were made by dissolving 100 mg 3,5-Dimethylphenol in 100 mL acetic acid. Sodium alginate in concentrations of 500, 250, 125, 62.5, 31.25, 15.625 μ g/mL were used as standard to generate a standard curve (Appendix, Figure A5).

The hydrolyzed material from CE (supernatant, fucoidan pellet and alginate pellet), EAE (retentate, permeate and alginate) and fractionated peaks from HP-SEC was first centrifuged at 1246 G for 10 min to remove any particles. To separate Eppendorf tubes, 100 μ L hydrolyzed material (9.09 mg/mL) or standard (two parallels), 100 μ L borate solution and 800 μ L H₂SO₄ were added and heated up to 70 °C for 40 min in an Eppendorf Thermomixer compact (Sigma Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA). The tubes were cooled down to room temperature before 20 μ L 3,5-Dimethylphenol solution were added. The samples were subsequently incubated for 10 min at room temperature. The absorbance was measured at 450 and 400 nm using a SpectraMax[®] i3x microplate reader and the difference in absorbance (A450-A400) were used to estimate the alginate content in the different samples.

2.4.9 Polyphenol assay

For estimation of total polyphenol content in algae, a polyphenol assay described by Zhang *et al.* (2006) was followed. Phloroglucinol in concentrations of 100, 50, 25, 12.5 and 6.5 μ g/mL were used to generate a standard curve (Appendix, Figure A6). The assay was performed with two parallels of lyophilized material from CE (supernatant and fucoidan pellet) and EAE (retentate and permeate) dissolved in distilled water (100 mg/mL).

In each well of a Nunc 96-well microplate (Sigma Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO, USA), 100 μ L of Folin-Ciocalteus reagent was added to 20 μ L of sample/standard and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. Then, 80 μ L of 7.5% sodium carbonate were added to the wells and mixed. The plate was covered and left in the dark for 2 hours at room temperature. The absorbance was measured at 750 nm using a spectrophotometric microplate reader (SpectraMax[®] i3x, Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA).

2.4.10 UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS

For characterization of phlorotannins, the samples were analyzed using a 1290 Infinity ultraperformance liquid chromatography (UPLC) system coupled with a 1260 Infinity diode array detector (DAD) and a 6540B Quadruple – Time of Flight Mass spectrometer (QToF-MS) with a dual electrospray ionization (ESI) source (all from Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). The samples were separated using a 2.1×50 mm ZORBAX Eclipse Plus C18 column with a particle size of 1.8 µm (Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA).

Lyophilized samples from CE (supernatant and fucoidan pellet) and EAE (retentate and permeate) was dissolved in 1% FA solution (2 mg/mL). The mobile phases used were water of analytical grade with 0.1% FA (A) and ACN + 0.1% FA (B) with a flow rate of 0.3 mL/min. Mobile phase B was run in a gradient from 5 to 100% over 15 min. The data were analyzed using a Resolve Isotope Deconvolution method in the MassHunter Qualitative Analysis B.07.00 software (Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). The Resolve Isotope Deconvolution produces a zero-charge, centroided spectrum from a single MS or MS/MS centroided spectrum.

3 Results

3.1 Proximate composition of fresh macroalgae

The DM and water content of *A. nodosum* in this experiment was 30.3% and 69.7%, respectively. For *S. latissima* the DM and water content were 10.3% and 89.7%, respectively. The ash content of *A. nodosum* was 4.4%, whereas the organic matter content was 25.9% of DM. For *S. latissima* the ash content was 6.9%, whereas the organic matter content was 3.4% of DM, summarized in Table 2.

Table 2. The dry matter (DM), water, ash and organic matter content of fresh *A. nodosum* and *S. latissima*. The DM and water content presented as percent (%) wet weight, whereas ash and organic matter content presented as % dry weight (DM).

	Dry matter	Water	Ash	Organic matter
A. nodosum	30.3	69.7	6.9	25.9
S. latissima	10.3	89.7	4.4	3.4

3.2 Dry matter content of the different samples

After CE the samples were fractionated into three samples, a supernatant, a fucoidan pellet and an alginate pellet. For *A. nodosum*, the supernatant (45.4 g), the fucoidan pellet (4.17 g) and the alginate pellet (0.36 g) gave a yield of 90.8%, 8.34% and 0.72%, respectively, of the start material of 50 g DM. Similarly, the samples after EAE were fractionated into three samples for each enzyme, a retentate (R), permeate (P) and alginate (A). Table 3 summarizes the DM content and the yield of each sample obtained during EAE of *A. nodosum*. The permeates samples provide the largest DM content and yield, followed by the retentate and alginate samples. No major difference was observed between the different enzymes tested, but they all provided slightly higher DM content and yield of the permeates, compared to the control permeate.

	Dry matter (g)				Yield (%)			
	Permeate (P)	Retentate (R)	Alginate (A)	Total	Permeate (P)	Retentate (R)	Alginate (A)	Total
Depol 692L	15.1	3.58	1.42	20.10	23.41	5.55	2.20	31.16
Depol 793L	15.1	3.60	1.51	20.21	23.41	5.58	2.34	31.33
Cellulase 13L	15.3	3.17	1.58	19.79	23.72	4.91	2.45	31.08
Control	14.3	3.86	1.32	19.48	22.17	5.98	2.05	30.20

Table 3. The dry matter (g DM) content and yield (%) for Permeate (P), Retentate (R) and Alginate (A) sample from enzyme-assisted extraction from *A. nodosum*, based on the start material of 64.5 g DM for each sample

After CE of *S. latissima*, the supernatant (43.7 g), the fucoidan pellet (0.8 g) and the alginate pellet (0.28 g) gave a yield of 87.4%, 1.6% and 0.56%, respectively, of the start material of 50 g DM. Table 4 summarizes the DM content and the yield of each sample obtained during EAE of *S. latissima*. The permeate samples provides the largest DM content and yield followed by the retentate and alginate samples. No major differences were observed between the different enzymes, but they all provided slightly higher DM content and yield of the retentates compared to the control retentate.

Table 4. The dry matter (g DM) content and yield (%) for Permeate (P), Retentate (R) and Alginate (A) sample from enzyme-assisted extraction from *S. latissima*, based on the start material of 20 g DM for each sample

	Dry matter (g)				Yield (%)			
	Permeate (P)	Retentate (R)	Alginate (A)	Total	Permeate (P)	Retentate (R)	Alginate (A)	Total
Depol 692L	8.49	1.50	0.31	10.30	42.45	7.50	1.55	51.50
Depol 793L	7.90	1.65	0.13	9.68	39.50	8.25	0.65	48.40
Cellulase 13L	5.74	1.65	0.24	7.63	28.70	8.25	1.20	38.15
Control	8.46	1.44	0.50	10.40	42.30	7.20	2.50	52.0

3.3 Molecular weight distribution of polysaccharides

The MW distribution of polysaccharides in the samples were analyzed using HP-SEC coupled with a DAD and RI detector. Pullulan samples of different sizes were used as standards for this analysis where Table A1 (Appendix) summarizes the characteristics for each standard sample. Table 5 shows the relative MW distribution of the polysaccharides from *A. nodosum* after EAE and CE. The relative content of the samples was obtained from the peak areas that were based on the total peak area of the sample, collected from GPC Postrun software. For the supernatant
after CE, all polysaccharides were found in the MW range of $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da. In the fucoidan pellet, the highest content of polysaccharides was found in the range of $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da as well, but unlike the supernatant, 12.8% of the polysaccharides were found in the MW range of $3 \times 10^5 - 2 \times 10^8$ Da. The weight average M_w was therefore higher in the fucoidan pellet (M_w 5.8×10^5 Da), due to the polysaccharides found in this MW range. The weight average M_w gives an indication of the average size of polysaccharides in the sample. Most of the polysaccharides from *A. nodosum* after CE and EAE were in the MW range of $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da. For Depol 692 and the control, all polysaccharides have a MW distribution of $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da, thus the weight average M_w for these samples were very similar. In Depol 793 retentate and Cellulase 13 retentate, 5.0% and 7.9%, respectively, of the polysaccharides have a MW between $2 \times 10^8 - 4 \times 10^{10}$ Da. The weight average M_w were thus much higher for these two samples, where Cellulase 13 retentate have the highest (M_w 2×10^9 Da), and much higher than the fucoidan pellet (M_w 5.8×10^5 Da) from CE.

Table 5. The molecular weight (MW) distribution in Da of polysaccharides in *A. nodosum* after chemical extraction (CE) and enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE). Each MW range constitutes a percentage of the total sample (Retentate (R), Permeate (P), supernatant and fucoidan pellet). The weight average M_w for each sample, presented in Da.

A. nodosum											
	СЕ		EAE								
Molecular Weight range	Supernatant	Fucoidan pellet	Depol 692-R	Depol 692-P	Depol 793-R	Depol 793-P	Cellulase 13-R	Cellulase 13-P	Control- R	Control- P	
4 x10 ¹⁰ -1 x 10 ¹³	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
2 x 10 ⁸ - 4 x 10 ¹⁰	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	5.0	0.0	7.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	
3 x 10 ⁵ - 2 x 10 ⁸	0.0	12.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
180 - 3 x 10 ⁵	100.0	87.2	100.0	100.0	95.0	100.0	92.1	100.0	100.0	100.0	
Weight average MW (M _w)	6.4 x 10 ⁴	5.8 x 10 ⁵	6.6 x 10 ³	6 x 10 ³	1.2 x 10 ⁶	6.4 x 10 ³	2 x 10 ⁹	6.3 x 10 ³	8 x 10 ³	5.6 x 10 ³	

Table 6 shows the relative MW distribution of polysaccharides from *S. latissima* after CE and EAE. All the polysaccharides present in the supernatant after CE have a MW in the range of $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da. The fucoidan pellet also have the highest percentage of the total polysaccharides in this MW range, but 33.7% of the polysaccharides have a MW between $3 \times 10^5 - 2 \times 10^8$ Da. The weight average M_w was thus higher in the fucoidan pellet compared to the supernatant. Similar to CE, most polysaccharides after EAE have a MW in the range of 180 - 3×10^5 Da, whereas all the polysaccharides in the permeate samples have MW in this range.

The weight average M_w in the permeate samples were very similar ($M_w 2.5-2.6 \times 10^4 \text{ Da}$), but the control samples were slightly higher (MW 2.8 x 10^4 Da). In all the retentate samples there was a small amount of the polysaccharides in the MW range of 4 x 10^{10} - 1 x 10^{13} Da and a small amount between 3 x 10^5 - 2 x 10^8 Da. The retentate sample of Depol 692 was the only sample with polysaccharides with a MW between 2 x 10^8 - 4 x 10^{10} Da. The weight average M_w was highest in the retentate sample of Depol 793 ($M_w 2.7 \times 10^{11} \text{ Da}$).

Table 6. The molecular weight (MW) distribution in Da of polysaccharides in *S. latissima* after chemical extraction (CE) and enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE). Each MW range constitutes a percentage of the total sample (Retentate (R), Permeate (P), supernatant and fucoidan pellet). The weight average M_w for each sample presented in Da.

S. latissima											
	СЕ		EAE								
Molecular Weight range	Supernatant	Fucoidan pellet	Depol 692-R	Depol 692-P	Depol 793-R	Depol 793-P	Cellulase 13-R	Cellulase 13-P	Control- R	Control- P	
4 x10 ¹⁰ -1 x 10 ¹³	0.0	0.0	0.80	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.00	
2 x 10 ⁸ - 4 x 10 ¹⁰	0.0	0.0	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
3 x 10 ⁵ - 2 x 10 ⁸	0.0	33.7	0.03	0.00	0.05	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.03	0.00	
180 - 3 x 10 ⁵	100.0	66.3	96.29	100.00	91.39	100.00	96.91	100.00	95.21	100.00	
Weight average MW (M _w)	3.1 x 10 ⁴	2.7 x 10 ⁵	7,7 x 10 ¹⁰	2.5 x 10 ⁴	2.7 x 10 ¹¹	2.5 x 10 ⁴	4.4 x 10 ¹⁰	2.6 x 10 ⁴	1.9 x 10 ¹¹	2.7 x 10 ⁴	

The HP-SEC chromatograms were very similar for all the retentate and permeate samples after EAE, as well as the supernatant and fucoidan pellet after CE, for both species. Figure 6 shows the HP-SEC chromatogram for Depol 692 retentate (R) and permeate (P) from *S. latissima*, as an example. The main peak observed in the permeate sample, was also observed in the retentate sample and includes all molecules in the MW range of $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da and was the MW range where the highest number of polysaccharides were found in every sample. In the retentate samples, there were detected many high MW compounds that was not observed in the permeate samples. The chromatogram for the retentate sample is focused on this area, which resulted in the entire main peak not being shown. The original chromatogram can be seen in the Appendix, Figure A7. The red baseline gives an indication of how GPC Postrun has integrated the peaks after HP-SEC.



Figure 6. High performance – size exclusion chromatogram (HP-SEC) comparing Depol 692 retentate (R) and permeate (P) samples from *S. latissima*. The main peak in the permeate sample was also observed in the retentate sample, in addition to the smaller peaks ahead of the tallest peak. The x-axis displays the retention time in minutes while the y-axis shows the relative intensity of the refractive index in mV.

3.4 Carbohydrate content

The carbohydrate composition of *A. nodosum* and *S. latissima* after EAE and CE were estimated based on the detection of monomeric sugars after hydrolysis with HCl and H₂SO₄. Analysis was performed using IEX-HPLC-RID. Prior to the analysis, glucose, xylose, mannitol and fucose standards were run, where glucose eluted first (10.7 min), followed by xylose (11.4 min), mannitol (11.8 min) and lastly fucose (13.0 min) (Appendix, Figure A8). The carbohydrate

content varied a lot, depending on the species, extraction method and the hydrolysis method that had been used.

Large differences were observed between the samples obtained after CE when hydrolyzing with HCl and H₂SO₄ in A. nodosum, where HCl hydrolysis resulted in approximately 10x higher yield. The supernatant was the only sample after CE with detectable glucose after hydrolysis with HCl and H₂SO₄ in A. nodosum. The supernatant contains the highest percentage of mannitol (5.10% DW) and fucose (10.88% DW) after hydrolysis with HCl, (Figure 7, A). The fucoidan pellet contains a slightly lower percentage of mannitol (4.51% DW) and fucose (8.63% DW), although it contains the highest amount of xylose (7.86% DW) after hydrolysis with HCl. The alginate pellet contains a small percentage of xylose (1.80% DW), mannitol (2.21% DW) and fucose (1.97% DW) as well. Hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ (Figure 7, B), resulted in a much lower monomeric sugar yield, compared to hydrolysis with HCl. This is clearly indicated on the y-axis in Figure 7, as the scale is much higher for hydrolysis with HCl (Figure 7, A). Only xylose (1.52% DW) and fucose (1.07% DW) were detected in the fucoidan pellet, however it had the highest content of these two monomeric sugars in the three samples, after hydrolysis with H₂SO₄. In the supernatant all the monosaccharides were detected in small amounts and was the only sample after hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ mannitol (0.51% DW) and glucose (0.17% DW) was detected in. Whereas, in the alginate pellet, only a small amount of fucose (0.26% DW) was present.

Similar to CE, large differences were observed in the samples obtained after EAE when hydrolyzing with HCl and H₂SO₄ for *A. nodosum*. After hydrolysis with HCl, the overall yield of the different monosaccharides was quite low, as well as no enzymes stood out (Figure 8, A). The permeate samples contained similar amounts of glucose and mannitol for all three enzymes and the control. The retentate and alginate samples all contained xylose (approximately 0.35% DW), mannitol and fucose in vary similar amounts for all three enzymes, as well as the control. The retentate samples contained a slightly higher glucose and fucose content than the A samples.

After hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ (Figure 8, B), the monomeric sugar yield was very similar to HCl hydrolysis for all the samples, except Depol 793 retentate. In general, the fucose yield slightly increased, whereas very little glucose was detected using this hydrolysis method. Mannitol was the primary monosaccharide detected in all the permeate samples (<1.1% DW), although it was slightly lower than for HCl hydrolyzed samples. The retentate (except Depol 793 retentate) and alginate samples contained varying amounts of xylose, mannitol and fucose, but were very similar to each other. Depol 793 retentate stood out after hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ with the highest yield for glucose (2.31% DW), xylose (2.57% DW), mannitol (0.59% DW) and fucose (4.21% DW). The mannitol content in this sample was relatively low and was very similar to all the other samples. In general, the overall yield after EAE were approximately 1-3% DW in the different samples, with the exception of Depol 793 which had an overall yield of over 9% DW. This yield was much lower than the samples after CE which were hydrolyzed with HCl. The supernatant and fucoidan pellet had an overall yield of approximately 20% DW.



Figure 7. Carbohydrate content in *A. nodosum* after hydrolysis with HCl (A) and H_2SO_4 (B) of the samples obtained after chemical extraction (CE). The content is presented as percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the sample on the y-axis. The % each monomeric sugar make up is included on each respective box. HCl hydrolysis resulted in approximately 10x higher yield than H_2SO_4 hydrolysis. The fucoidan pellet and supernatant contained the highest carbohydrate content. There is very little glucose detected, and only in the supernatant.



Figure 8. Carbohydrate content in *A. nodosum* after hydrolysis with HCl (A) and H_2SO_4 (B) for the samples obtained after enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE). The content is presented as percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the samples on the y-axis. The % each monomeric sugar makes up are included on each respective box. The samples are grouped together by retentate (R), permeate (P) and alginate (A) for the three different enzymes and the control. The overall monomeric sugar content was approximately 1-3% DW in all the samples, except Depol 793 retentate which had an overall yield of over 9% DW. The retentate samples have the highest carbohydrate content based on the monomeric sugars detected, whereas the permeate samples have the lowest. There is no detection of xylose or fucose in the permeate.

Similar to *A. nodosum*, large differences were observed after CE when hydrolyzing with HCl and H₂SO₄ for *S. latissima*. In contrast to *A. nodosum*, where fucose was the most abundant monosaccharide after CE, mannitol was the most abundant monosaccharide in *S. latissima*. Similarly, HCl hydrolysis resulted in the highest yield of monomeric sugars (Figure 9, A), where the fucoidan pellet (19.55% DW) had the highest yield for *S. latissima*. Glucose and fucose was detected in all the three samples in varying amounts where the fucoidan pellet had the highest content (3.87% DW glucose and 3.37% DW fucose). The supernatant had the

highest content of mannitol (11.44% DW). The alginate pellet contained all four monomeric sugars, but in very small amounts (<1.0% DW for each sugar).

HCl hydrolysis resulted in approximately 8-10x higher monomeric sugar yield compared to hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ (Figure 9, B), and is seen very clearly in Figure 9 where the scale is much higher for HCl hydrolysis. Similarly, glucose and fucose was detected in all three samples and the fucoidan pellet had the highest overall content of monomeric sugars (2.41% DW).



Figure 9. Carbohydrate content in *S. latissima* after hydrolysis with HCl (A) and H_2SO_4 (B) for the samples obtained after chemical extraction (CE). The content is presented as percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the samples on the y-axis. The % each monomeric sugar makes up are included on each respective box. HCl hydrolysis resulted in 8-10x higher monomeric sugar yield compared to hydrolysis with H_2SO_4 . The fuccidan pellet contained the highest amount of monomeric sugars and yielded the most glucose, xylose and fucose. Mannitol is the most abundant monomeric sugar present in the samples, where the supernatant had the highest content.

After EAE of *S. latissima*, there is no enzyme that stood out for either HCl or H₂SO₄ hydrolysis. Similar to CE, mannitol was the most abundant monomeric sugar present in the samples. HCl hydrolysis (Figure 10, A) resulted in poor monomeric sugar yields. Fucose was detected in varying amounts in all the samples after HCl hydrolysis, with a slightly higher content in the retentate samples. Cellulase 13 permeates had the highest xylose content (0.94% DW), whereas all the retentate samples and Depol 692 permeate contained a slightly smaller amount. Glucose is detected in all the samples, whereas Depol 692 alginate sample contain a slightly higher amount (0.55% DW).

Hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ (Figure 10, B) resulted in 10x higher monomeric sugar yield, compared to hydrolysis with HCl. This is clearly indicated in Figure 10, as the scale is much higher for hydrolysis with H₂SO₄. In contrast to HCl hydrolysis where fucose was detected in all samples but one, it was limited to the retentate and alginate samples after hydrolysis with H₂SO₄. There was no enzyme that stood out after this hydrolysis method either, however Cellulase 13 retentate had a somewhat higher overall monomeric sugar content (19.17% DW) than the other retentate samples. The permeates primarily contained mannitol, glucose and a minor amount of xylose. Mannitol was the most abundant sugar inn all the samples, where Depol 692 permeate had the highest content (15.79% DW). The control alginate sample had the highest glucose (8.85% DW) and xylose (3.12% DW) content of all the samples, as well as it contained a substantial amount of mannitol (10.72% DW) and fucose (3.00% DW). Hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ resulted in the highest monomeric sugar content in S. latissima, compared to CE samples hydrolyzed with HCl. The retentate samples and the control alginate sample had the highest content after hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ which made up over 25% DW of the samples, compared to the fucoidan pellet after CE which made up approximately 20% DW of the sample.

In general, hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ gave the highest yield for all sugars after EAE, while hydrolysis with HCl gave the overall highest yield after CE in both species. For *A. nodosum*, CE estimated the highest carbohydrate content, whereas the carbohydrate content was higher after EAE for *S. latissima*. The estimated carbohydrate content was higher in *S. latissima* compared to *A. nodosum*.



Figure 10. Carbohydrate content in *S. latissima* after hydrolysis with HCl (A) and H_2SO_4 (B) for the samples obtained after enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) presented as percent dry weight (DW) of the specific sample. The total carbohydrate content in percent DW of the samples can be seen on the y-axis, and the percent for each monomeric sugar make up are included on each respective box. The samples are grouped together by retentate (R), permeate (P) and alginate (A) for the three different enzymes and the control. Hydrolysis with H_2SO_4 resulted in 10x higher monomeric sugar content in the samples, compared to hydrolysis with HCl. The retentate samples and control alginate had the highest content (>25% DW).

3.5 L-fucose content

The L-fucose content in the samples obtained after CE and EAE were estimated using Megazyme's L-fucose kit with L-fucose as standard. The content is only presented for samples hydrolyzed with H₂SO₄ (Figure 11), as samples hydrolyzed with HCl resulted on a low yield and is therefore not presented. After CE, the fucose content in *A. nodosum* and *S. latissima* was very similar in the supernatant and fucoidan pellet, whereas for the alginate pellet, the fucose content was almost absent in *S. latissima*. Overall, there was a higher fucose content in *A.*

nodosum than in *S. latissima*. After EAE, Depol 692 retentate (1.5% DW), control retentate (0.8% DW) and Cellulase 13 permeate (0.85% DW) were the only samples that had a higher estimated fucose content in *S. latissima* than in *A. nodosum*. Cellulase 13 retentate had the highest estimated fucose content (1.13% DW) for *A. nodosum* tightly followed by Depol 793 permeate (1.2% DW) and Cellulase 13 alginate (1.04% DW). The fluctuation of fucose content in the different samples for *S. latissima* was not as substantial, as for *A. nodosum*, where it varied greatly between the samples after EAE.



Figure 11. Estimated fucose content after L-fucose assay in *A. nodosum* and *S. latissima* samples obtained after chemical extraction (CE) and enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE). The estimated content is presented as percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the samples and is based on the results from H_2SO_4 hydrolysis. The samples after EAE are grouped together by retentate (R), permeate (P) and alginate (A) samples from Depol 692, Depol 793, Cellulase 13 and the control. The estimated L-fucose content is in general higher in *A. nodosum* compared to *S. latissima*. EAE resulted in the highest release of L-fucose compared to CE, where the Cellulase 13 retentate sample had the highest L-fucose content (1.2% DW) for *A. nodosum*. Depol 692 retentate sample contained the highest L-fucose content (1.5% DW) for *S. latissima*.

Commercially available fucoidan was added as an additional standard to this assay to estimate the amount of fucoidan present and its degree of purity compared to the standard. As there was a high degree of uncertainty regarding the results, the data was not presented.

3.6 Alginate content

The alginate content in the different samples were estimated using the difference in absorbance (A450-A400). Samples hydrolyzed with HCl and H₂SO₄ methods were analyzed, however as

HCl hydrolysis resulted in a higher alginate content (Figure 12), data from H₂SO₄ hydrolyzed samples are not presented. After CE, the alginate pellet had the highest alginate content (9.22% DW), followed by the fucoidan pellet (4.73% DW), and lastly the supernatant (2.18% DW) in *A. nodosum.* However, the highest alginate content was estimated in the control alginate sample (3.31% DW) after EAE. After EAE, alginate was almost exclusively detected in the alginate samples, with the exception of Depol 793 permeate, where a minor amount of alginate was estimated (0.66% DW). Compared to *A. nodosum*, the estimated alginate content (4.79 % DW), whereas a smaller amount of alginate was detected in the alginate pellet (2.56% DW). The Depol 793 alginate sample had the highest estimated alginate content (1.69% DW) after EAE. In addition to estimated alginate content in the alginate samples, a minor amount of alginate was estimated in the retentate (0.24% DW) and permeate (0.05% DW) samples of Depol 692, as well as the retentate samples for Depol 793 (0.13% DW) and Control (0.16% DW). In general, CE resulted in the highest alginate content, compared to EAE for both species.



Figure 12. Estimated alginate content in *A. nodosum* and *S. latissima* after chemical extraction (red bar) and enzyme-assisted extraction (blue bar). The data is presented as percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the specific sample on the y-axis and is based on the results form HCl hydrolysis. CE resulted in the overall highest alginate content in both species.

3.7 Fractionated Depol 793 and control retentate from A. nodosum

During HP-SEC, the peaks of Depol 793 retentate and control retentate, form *A. nodosum* was fractionated and collected. Depol 793 retentate was chosen due to the high carbohydrate yields

(Figure 8, B) and the high MW of the polysaccharides present in the sample (Table 5). Therefore, the peaks were collected and analyzed more closely to determine in which fraction the different valuable components were located. The control retentate was also fractionated for comparison. Three peaks were observed in the samples after HP-SEC and were collected, where peak 1 contain molecules with a MW between 2 x 10^8 - 4 x 10^{10} Da, whereas peak 2 and 3 contain molecules with a MW between $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da (Table 5). Alginate analysis was performed on the collected peaks, but no alginate was detected (data not shown). There was a much higher amount of fucose detected using the L-fucose assay, compared to carbohydrate analysis with IEX-HPLC-RID, as seen in Figure 13. After L-fucose assay, the highest fucose content was estimated in peak 3 of Depol 793 (0.89% DW) and peak 1 of the control (1.04% DW), however the estimated fucose content was only slightly lower in the remaining peaks for both Depol 793 and control. In contrast, the fucose content was <0.01% DW of all the peaks after carbohydrate analysis with IEX-HPLC-RID. For both Depol 793 and control, fucose was detected in peak 1 (0.05% DW of both samples), indicating the fucose present had MW between 2×10^8 - 4×10^{10} Da. Xylose is detected in peak 2 for both Depol 793 (0.02% DW) and control (0.02% DW), in addition to a small amount of fucose, which have a MW between 180 - 3 x 10⁵ Da. In peak 3 for both samples, glucose (0.01% DW for both samples), mannitol (0.03% DW for both samples) is detected, as well as xylose is detected in Depol 793 (0.02% DW), which have a MW between $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da.



Figure 13. The carbohydrate content in the collected peaks during high performance-size exclusion chromatography (HP-SEC) of Depol 793 sample from *A. nodosum*. The data is presented as percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the peak. Glucose, xylose, mannitol and fucose was estimated using ion exchange-high performance liquid chromatography (IEX-HPLC-RID), while the second fucose was estimated using L-fucose assay. Peak 1 contain molecules in the MW range of $2 \times 10^8 - 4 \times 10^{10}$ Da, whereas peak 2 and 3 contain molecules in the MW range between $180 - 3 \times 10^5$ Da.

3.8 Polyphenol content

The polyphenol content in the samples was determined using colorimetric detection of phloroglucinol equivalents (PGE) at 750 nm. In general, the estimated polyphenol content was much higher in *A. nodosum* samples compared to samples from *S. latissima*. The Depol 692 retentate sample was the only sample from *S. latissima* showing detectable polyphenol content. The estimated polyphenol content constituted only 0.004% DW of the sample from *S. latissima*. For *A. nodosum*, the estimated polyphenol content was higher in the samples after EAE than for CE. The retentate sample treated with the enzyme Cellulase 13 yielded the highest estimated PGE content (1.08% DW) after EAE, followed by the Depol 692 retentate (0.71% DW), control retentate (0.59%) and Depol 793 retentate (0.54% DW) samples (Figure 14). PGE's were most abundantly found in the retentates samples after EAE, however, small amounts were detected in the permeate samples as well. After CE, the highest amount of PGE was found in the fucoidan pellet (0.05% DW), but it was less than for the control permeate (0.08% DW). Whereas very little PGE were detected in the supernatant (0.01% DW).



Figure 14. Estimated phloroglucinol equivalents (PGE) in the different samples for *A. nodosum* after chemical extraction (red bar) and enzyme assisted extraction (blue bar) The data is presented as percent (%) PGE of the dry weight (DW) for each sample on the y-axis.

3.9 Phlorotannin characterization

As an additional analysis, it was chosen to run UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS on the samples there was detected PGE's in, using the polyphenol assay, for characterization of phlorotannins. Se samples were analyzed using both positive and negative ionization mode. However, as negative

ionization mode gave the best results, positive ionization mode is not presented. Figure 15 shows the UV-chromatogram of each samples. After UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS it was clear that the highest amount of polyphenols was found in the retentate samples, where Depol 692 retentate showed the highest polyphenol content after this analysis. The permeate samples from EAE as well as the supernatant and fucoidan pellet from CE had a much smaller content of polyphenols compared to the retentate samples. The Depol 692 retentate sample from *S. latissima* had the lowest polyphenol content of all the samples analyzed using UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS, in accordance with the colorimetric detection (Figure 14). The polyphenol content peaks elute approximately after 5.4 min, whereas the supernatant and fucoidan pellet after CE elute some seconds later.



Figure 15. UV-chromatogram at 210 nm showing the polyphenols content of the different samples after analysis using UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS. All samples are from *A. nodosum* with the exception of Depol 692 retentate from *S. latissima*. The retentate samples have the highest polyphenol content of the samples, where the permeates have a much lower polyphenol content. However, the supernatant and fucoidan pellet from chemical extraction (CE) have the lowest polyphenol content from *A. nodosum*. The x-axis shows the retention time in minutes, while the y-axis shows the intensity of the signals detected by diode array detector (DAD). The peaks have an intensity of 0.94 x 10^3 at the highest (Depol 692 – retentate), and the polyphenol peaks were eluting at approximately 5.4 min for all the samples, with the exception of the supernatant and fucoidan pellet after CE, which elutes a few seconds later.



Figure 16. Deconvoluted ESI mass spectrum showing phlorotannins detected in the Depol 692 retentate from A. nodosum. The x-axis shows the mass of different compounds, whereas the y-axis shows the intensity (ion counts) of each mass. Delta 124 between the different mass peaks represents a phloroglucinol unit (PGU, M-2H) indicating the increase of one PGU.

Figure A9 (Appendix) shows the isolated UV-chromatogram of Depol 692 retentate sample at 210 nm. The UV-chromatogram shows the absorbance maximum of the sample at approximately 211 nm and 277 nm. The ESI Deconvoluted mass spectrum of Depol 692 retentate (Figure 16) clearly indicate the increase of one PGU (M-2H) through Delta 124 Da between the measured masses.

The mass spectra (Figure 16) of Depol 692 retentate, as well as the mass spectra of the remaining samples gives an indication of the variation of phlorotannins in the samples, where Delta 124 Da clearly indicates the increase of one PGU unit between the measured masses. Based on this data, a range of phlorotannins in a range of sizes was identified in the samples. Figure 17 shows the number of phlorotannins detected in the samples and the retentate samples were most phlorotannins rich. Depol 692 retentate have the highest phlorotannin content, with 28 detected phlorotannins. Slightly less phlorotannins were detected in Cellulase 13 retentate compared to the control retentate. In general, approximately twice as many phlorotannins was detected in the retentates as in the permeates. Depol 692 permeate and Cellulase 13 permeate have the highest amount of 15 phlorotannins. The supernatant and fucoidan pellet after CE have the lowest amount of detected phlorotannins with 6 and 5, respectively. Table A2 (Appendix) shows the variation of phlorotannins in Depol 692 retentate, with phlorotannins ranging from 2-18 PGU. In addition, a suggested molecular formula based on the measured monoisotopic mass were included. Based on already identified phlorotannins from MarinLit database (http://pubs.rsc.org/marinlit), a suggested phlorotannin were proposed for some of the measured masses.





3.10 Total yield of valuable components

The chemical composition of the algae varied with the extraction method used for both species. Figure 18 compares the overall yield from the start material after CE (supernatant, fucoidan pellet and alginate pellet combined) (50 g DW) and EAE (retentate, permeate and alginate combined) (64.5 g DW) in *A. nodosum*. After CE, the total carbohydrate content accounted for 19.7% of the total DW in *A. nodosum*. This was distributed in 1.2% glucose, 3.0% xylose, 5.0% mannitol and 10,6% fucose. The L-fucose assay resulted in a fucose yield of 0.72% DW of the total algal biomass. The total estimated PGE constituted 0.01% DW, whereas alginate constituted 2.8% DW of the total algal biomass. The total DW using Depol 793. This enzyme gave the highest carbohydrate yield in *A. nodosum*. This was distributed in 0.13% glucose, 0.14% xylose, 0.11% mannitol and 0.28% fucose. Compared to the carbohydrate analysis with IEX-HPLC-RID, the L-fucose assay gave a much higher yield of fucose with the highest being 0.35% DW of the total algal biomass after EAE with Depol 793. The total estimated PGE constituted 0.07% of the total algal biomass after EAE with Depol 793. The total estimated PGE constituted 0.07% of the total algal biomass after EAE with Depol 793. The total estimated PGE constituted 0.07% of the total algal biomass after EAE with Depol 793. The total estimated PGE constituted 0.07% of the total algal biomass.



Figure 18. Total yield of the different valuable components from *A. nodosum* after the various analysis methods. The content is presented as total percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the total algal biomass on the y-axis. The hydrolysis method with the highest yield, mentioned in the various sections was used to calculate the % DW of algal biomass. Glucose, xylose, mannitol, fucose from IEX-HPLC after EAE were hydrolyzed with H_2SO_4 for the EAE, while for CE the data was based on HCl hydrolyzed material. The L-fucose data was hydrolyzed with H_2SO_4 while the alginate data was based on hydrolysis with HCl for both extraction methods. Overall, CE resulted in the highest yield of the different valuable components, except for phloroglucinol equivalents (PGE), which was higher for EAE.

Figure 19 compares the overall yield of the start material after CE (supernatant, fucoidan pellet and alginate pellet combined) (50 g DW) and EAE (R, P and A combined) (20 g DW) in *S. latissima*. After CE, the total carbohydrate content accounted for 12.9% DW of the total algal biomass, distributed in 1.6% glucose, 0.03% xylose, 10.2% mannitol and 1.1% fucose. The L-fucose assay resulted in a fucose yield of 0.6% DW of the total algal biomass. The estimated PGE and alginate content after CE constituted <0.01% DW of the total algal biomass. The total carbohydrate content in *S. latissima* after EAE accounted for 12.11% DW of the total algal biomass with Depol 692, distributed in 3.4% glucose, 0.5% xylose, 7.9% mannitol and 0.4% fucose. Compared to carbohydrate analysis using IEX-HPLC-RID, L-fucose assay resulted in fucose constituting 0.15% DW of the total algal biomass in *S. latissima* after EAE with Depol 692. The estimated PGE and alginate content in *S. latissima* constituted <0.01% DW of the total algal biomass.



Figure 19. The total yield of the different valuable components from *S. latissima* after the analysis methods used. The content is presented as total percent (%) dry weight (DW) of the total algal biomass on the y-axis. The data presented was based on the hydrolysis method with the highest yield. Glucose, xylose, mannitol, fucose from IEX-HPLC after EAE were hydrolyzed with H_2SO_4 for the EAE, while for CE the data was based on HCl hydrolyzed material. The L-fucose data was hydrolyzed with H_2SO_4 while the alginate data was based on hydrolysis with HCl for both extraction methods.

4 Discussion

There is a growing interest in utilizing valuable components from brown macroalgae, such as polyphenols, fucoidan and different carbohydrates (Schiener et al., 2015). The increasing focus on sustainability in today's society has led to a high focus on developing more sustainable methods for extraction. The major aim of this study was to compare the efficiency of a chemical extraction (CE) method against a greener, enzyme-assisted extraction (EAE) method, performed on two species of brown macroalgae; Ascophyllum nodosum and Saccharina latissima. One important subgoal was to evaluate the efficiency of the three enzymes used in this study: Depol 692, Depol 793 and Cellulase 13, as well as the efficiency of alginate precipitation and fucoidan isolation. The polyphenol content in the samples were analyzed, in addition the carbohydrate content was analyzed after two methods of acid hydrolysis. As additional analyses the MW distribution of polysaccharides and characterization of phlorotannins in the samples were added to the study. There is observed large differences in the extraction yield after the two extraction methods, as well as the hydrolysis methods used. The results observed in this study indicates that hydrolysis with HCl resulted in higher carbohydrate yield after CE in both species, whereas H₂SO₄ hydrolysis resulted in the highest carbohydrate yield after EAE. Therefore, the following discussion are based on these results unless otherwise stated.

Both CE and EAE methods ended up with fractionating the samples into 3; supernatant, fucoidan pellet and alginate pellet after CE and retentate, permeate and alginate after EAE. It was chosen to analyze all three fractions from both extraction processes to get an overview of where the different valuable components end up in the process. This was favored as the process can be optimized for the extraction of several valuable components from the same raw material, as the methods used in this study is focused primarily on the extraction of fucoidan.

4.1 CE versus EAE

4.1.1 Evaluation of CE

The CE method used in this study was chosen as it was reported to result in the highest yield of fucoidan compared to other CE methods (Fletcher *et al.*, 2017). Fucoidans are very sensitive molecules and are therefore easily influenced by different extraction parameters, such as acid concentration and temperature (Ale *et al.*, 2013). Ale *et al.* (2013) reports that an acid

concentration of only 0.2 M HCl, broke the structural integrity of fucoidan molecules, resulting in loss of fucose and bioactivity. However, an acid concentration of 0.03 M HCl, resulted in the best preservation of the fucoidan molecules. This suggests that extraction with 0.1 M HCl, used in this study, might result in loss of integrity and activity of the fucoidan molecule. As fucoidan molecules are water soluble, it can be discussed how necessary it is with acid extraction, and if a lower acid concentration can be favorable for the purpose of extraction bioactive fucoidan (Ale *et al.*, 2013). In this study, CE resulted in the highest extraction yield of all valuable components analyzed in this study, with the exception of polyphenols for both species studied. (Figure 18 and 19). However, there are indications that the CE method might have influenced the structure of the polysaccharides present in the samples, as the average M_w observed in the samples after CE are lower than what is observed after EAE.

4.1.2 Evaluation of Depol 692, Depol 793 and Cellulase 13

The most important considerations that needs to be made in an EAE method, is the extraction conditions. It is important to ensure optimal conditions for the enzyme, to achieve optimal enzymatic rate. There were three different enzymes used in this study; Depol 692, Depol 793 and Cellulase 13. Whereas Cellulase 13 contained only cellulase activity as its main activity, Depol 692 and Depol 793 contained additional carbohydrases (Table 1). As three different enzymes were studied, it would have been favorable to optimize the extraction process for each enzyme. However, this would require a separate control for each extraction process. Due to practical reasons, it was chosen to study all three enzymes, but use a common control, hence one generalized extraction process. The enzymes and the control were incubated at 50 °C at pH 5.0 for 3 hours. The pH optimum and temperature optimum for the three enzymes varied, where the temperature used in the extraction process are in the outer range for all three enzymes. A generalized extraction process proved to be only semi-optimal as none of the enzymes had remarkable results compared to the control, which can be considered to be a mild chemical extraction (Table 3 and 4). After extraction of A. nodosum, the control sample resulted in the lowest yield of the start material, however the enzymes only yielded approximately 1% more of the start material. After extraction of S. latissima, the control sample resulted in the highest yield of the start material compared to the enzymes. However, this indicates that the enzymes used in this study might not be efficient enough in degrading the algal cell wall. Nguyen et al. (2020) stated that cellulase enzymes, often in combination with other enzymes, are efficient in degrading the algal cell wall. Based on the results observed in this study, no enzyme can be

recommended for extraction of valuable components from macroalgae, due to the low efficiency compared to the control. However, further analyzes of the enzymes under optimal conditions are needed to make thorough conclusions. In addition, it might be favorable to analyze the enzymes under optimal conditions, for optimal enzymatic activity, as well as exploring other enzymes.

Despite this, some interesting finds were made in the study. Depol 793 is a multifunctional enzyme that possesses several activities including ferulic acid esterase activity. This activity has proven to be essential in opening up the structures in the cell wall, allowing for the degradation of the cell wall and the release of components (Biocatalysts, 2015b). For instance, Depol 793 resulted in a high yield of carbohydrates in A. nodosum (Figure 18). Similarly, Depol 692 possessed this activity and showed the greatest potential in degradation of the cell wall in S. latissima, resulting in the overall highest carbohydrate yield (Figure 19). However, Cellulase 13 yielded a slightly highest carbohydrate content in the retentate samples in S. latissima (Figure 10). In addition, Cellulase 13 possesses the most potent cellulase activity of the three enzymes and showed the greatest potential in efficiently extracting polyphenols (Figure 14) from the raw material during the extraction process. In contrast, UHPLC-DAD-QToF-MS, showed Depol 692 to contain the highest polyphenol content (Figure 15). These results indicate that all three enzymes show some potential in cell wall degradation in macroalgae, as polysaccharides and polyphenols often are tightly bonded in the cell wall (Wijesinghe *et al.*, 2012; Padam *et al.*, 2020). However, the yield is only a little higher than the control. For the following discussion, Depol 793 will be the basis for discussion of A. nodosum, while Depol 692 will be the bases for discussion of S. latissima, unless otherwise stated.

4.1.3 Evaluation of alginate precipitation using CaCl₂

Fucoidan is often coextracted with alginate due to the complex cell wall in macroalgae. CaCl² is therefore often added after the extraction to precipitate alginate and to obtain purer fucoidan extracts. Alginate was precipitated from the samples with 2% CaCl² (w/v) in both extraction methods. This resulted in low extraction yields of alginate, constituting 2.8% and 0.2% DW of the algal biomass after CE and EAE, respectively in *A. nodosum* and 0.06% and 0.09% DW in *S. latissima*, respectively. Schiener *et al.* (2017) reported that alginate can make up to 20% and 23% of the total DW in *A. nodosum* and *S. latissima*, respectively. Both extraction methods were performed in acidic conditions, where alginate is generally insoluble, and low levels of alginate in the extracts were therefore expected. Following the CaCl² precipitation, a

considerable amount of alginate was detected in the fucoidan pellet after CE, indicating coextraction of fucoidan. However, there was no alginate present in the retentate or permeate samples after EAE, indicating efficient removal of alginate from the samples after EAE. This confirms that the addition of CaCl₂ to the samples after extraction will efficiently remove extracted alginate. CaCl₂ will bind to the guluronic acid rich high MW alginates, resulting in the formation of a gel. However, low MW alginates will not precipitate with CaCl₂, due to the dominance of mannuronic acid in the alginates, however low MW alginates can easily be removed from the samples by IEX. This suggests that there are more low MW alginates present in the samples from A. nodosum, especially after CE, as a substantial amount are present in the supernatant and fucoidan pellet, indicating a partial insufficient precipitation of alginate in these samples. In addition to adding CaCl₂ it is possible to add alginate lyase to the samples to purify fucoidan, as alginate lyase efficiently degrades alginate (Nguyen et al., 2020). Although precipitation with CaCl₂ is efficient in precipitating extracted alginate, it will not be efficient in extracting alginate from the raw material as alginates are relatively insoluble in the presence of calcium ions (Rioux et al., 2015). In addition, the left over CaCl₂ used in this precipitation step might influence the weight, resulting in a higher DM content in the supernatant and permeate samples after CE and EAE (Table 3 and 4).

4.1.4 Evaluation of fucoidan isolation with ethanol versus ultrafiltration

Fucoidan is often precipitated with ethanol, as it was done in CE. After IEX-HPLC-RID and L-fucose assay, both the supernatant and alginate pellet contained a substantial amount of fucose (Figure 7, 9 and 11), in addition to the fucoidan pellet, where it was expected the largest portion of fucose was going to be. This indicates an insufficient isolation and precipitation of fucoidan, as a substantial amount were left in the supernatant. The fucose content in the alginate pellet suggests some coextraction of fucoidan and alginate may have occurred during the alginate precipitation.

As a greener alternative to precipitation with ethanol, ultrafiltration with membranes with 100 kDa cut off was used to isolate fucoidan after EAE. This resulted in fucose rich high MW retentates and fucose-deprived low MW permeates. Similar to CE, the alginate pellet after alginate precipitation in the EAE samples also contained a substantial amount of fucose, suggesting that coextraction of fucoidan and alginate might have occurred during alginate precipitation. When the fucose content was measured in the retentates and permeates samples, conflicting results were obtained. According to the carbohydrate analysis using IEX-HPLC-RID, the ultrafiltration worked efficiently in isolating fucoidan, as no fucose was detected in the permeate samples in any of the two species studied. However, according to the L-fucose assay, a substantial amount of fucose was detected in the permeate samples in addition to the retentate and alginate sample for both species. These conflicting results indicates limitations of the analysis methods, as to how the same material can give such different result depending on the analysis method.

4.1.5 Evaluation of IEX-HPLC-RID versus L-fucose assay

RID are commonly used in quantitative estimation of carbohydrates, since native sugars do not contain a chromophore or fluorophore (Galant et al., 2015). The conflicting results observed in this study, especially between CE and EAE for A. nodosum, has suggested limitations of the two analysis methods. RID are in general highly sensitive detectors and even the slightest change in temperature, pressure and mobile phase can cause baseline shifts or movements (Galant et al., 2015). However, RID are being replaced by other detectors such as light scattering detector and pulsed amperometric detector (PAD), due to the high sensitivity of RID, difficulties with reproducibility and incompatibility with gradients (Swartz, 2010). This suggests that several factors could have influenced the analysis. The samples from each extraction method were run as a series over several hours. The slightest change in temperature or pressure in the column could have affected the results. However, this is unlikely as the equipment (including the column oven, LC-apparatus and RID) is considered to be up to standard. A difference in the viscosity of the samples could have occurred, hindering the full 10 µL being injected onto the column. In addition, it is possible that remains from previous runs could have eluted together with the samples causing a higher detection of monosaccharides.

There are also limitations to the L-fucose assay regarding the specificity of L-FDH. The assay is based on the rapid conversion of L-fucose by L-FDH. Whereas Megazyme (2018) states that L-FDH will also convert L-galactose and D-arabinose, however at a slower rate. This suggests that higher NADPH values measured in the samples might not specifically be due to the conversion of L-fucose, as it might be influenced by the conversion of these two sugars as well.

However, IEX-HPLC-RID might still be preferrable, as RID gives good detection of compounds that are of relatively small amounts in the samples. However, RID does not provide

the same sensitivity as other detectors, such as PAD (Galant *et al.*, 2015). It can thus be favorable to replace RID with a different detector or add an additional analysis to support the findings by this method in future projects.

4.1.6 Fucose content

The fucoidan yield after extraction is often measured as the % fucose obtained of the total fucose present in the macroalgal DW (Ale *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, fucose can be used as an indirect measurement of fucoidan. The fucose content in the samples were analyzed using IEX-HPLC-RID and the L-fucose assay. After CE, IEX-HPLC-RID measured the highest % fucose in both species studied. Whereas after EAE, L-fucose resulted in the highest % fucose obtained in *A. nodosum* (Figure 18) and IEX-HPLC-RID resulted in the highest fucose content in *S. latissima* (Figure 19).

The measured fucose content in *A. nodosum* between the two analysis methods varied greatly after CE. IEX-HPLC-RID estimated 10.61% DW fucose of the total algal biomass, which is approximately 10x higher than the estimated fucose content after L-fucose assay. The L-fucose assay measured the fucose content to be 0.72% DW fucose of the total algal biomass (Figure 18). It is likely that the samples had been contaminated during the extraction process, as it is only observed for *A. nodosum* after CE. However, as the material used for IEX-HPLC-RID and L-fucose assay are from the same extraction process, this is considered unlikely. Although, it is very possible that something might have influenced both analysis methods, such as difference in viscosity or remains from previous runs, resulting in the increased detection of fucose. In addition, the same trend is observed for the Depol 793 retentate sample (Figure 8), where it yielded approximately 8x higher carbohydrates than the rest of the samples after IEX-HPLC-RID for *A. nodosum*, whereas the same trend is not observed for the L-fucose assay.

Regardless, CE measured a higher amount of fucose in *A. nodosum* after both IEX-HPLC-RID and the L-fucose assay, compared to Depol 793. After IEX-HPLC-RID, Depol 793 had released 0.26% DW and 0.35% DW of the total algal biomass after the L-fucose assay. According to Schiener *et al.* (2017), a fucose content of 0.9% DW in biorefined *A. nodosum* was detected. This further confirms the uncertainty regarding the results obtained after IEX-HPLC-RID for this species after CE, as it is 10x higher than what was reported in the algae. However, this indicates a relatively good extraction of fucose after CE as the measured fucose content after L-fucose is high. Whereas the release of fucose after EAE were lower, indicating a higher release of fucoidan after CE compared to EAE in *A. nodosum*.

The measured fucose content in *S. latissima* after IEX-HPLC-RID and the L-fucose assay was not as extreme as observed for *A. nodosum*, thus IEX-HPLC-RID measured the highest fucose content after both CE and EAE. After CE, the measured fucose content was 1.1% DW fucose of total algal biomass after IEX-HPLC-RID and 0.60% DW fucose of total algal biomass (Figure 19). Similar to *A. nodosum*, CE resulted in the highest extraction of fucose compared to EAE in *S. latissima* as well. Depol 692 resulted in the extraction of 0.36% DW fucose of the total algal biomass according to IEX-HPLC-RID, whereas L-fucose measured 0.15% DW fucose of the total algal biomass. According to Schiener *et al.* (2017), the fucose content in biorefined *S. latissima* is 0.7% DW of the algal biomass. This indicates a complete extraction of fucose in CE and a relatively good extraction of fucose with Depol 692 according to IEX-HPLC-RID. This suggests a high extraction of fucoidan after CE from *S. latissima* as well, compared to EAE.

4.1.7 Carbohydrate content

The carbohydrate content in the samples were measured by the detection of monomeric sugars (glucose, xylose, mannitol and glucose) with IEX-HPLC-RID. CE resulted in the extraction of 19.7% DW carbohydrates of the total algal biomass in A. nodosum, whereas Depol 793 resulted in the extraction of 0.66% DW carbohydrates of the total algal biomass. Tabassum et al. (2016) reported a carbohydrate content in A. nodosum harvested in October at approximately 70% DW of algal biomass. This indicates a very low extraction yield of carbohydrates for both CE and EAE in A. nodosum. The carbohydrate content after CE was distributed in 1.17% DW glucose, 2.95% DW xylose, 5.03% DW mannitol and 10.61% DW fucose of the total algal biomass. The carbohydrate content after EAE was distributed in 0.13% DW glucose, 0.14% DW xylose, 0.29% DW mannitol and 0.26% DW fucose of the total algal biomass (Figure 18). In contrast, Schiener et al. (2017) reported the carbohydrate content to be 5.4% DW glucose, 9.0% DW xylose/mannose/galactose, 0.9% DW mannitol and 0.9% DW fucose in biorefined A. nodosum harvested in February and November. This indicates a low extraction yield of carbohydrates after both CE and EAE. The A. nodosum studied was harvested in October, when carbohydrates are reported at a high, due to the accumulation of carbohydrates during summer and autumn in the species (Tabassum et al., 2016). This was not reflected in this study. However, storage carbohydrates such as mannitol and laminarin accumulate during winter and will be at a low during summer and autumn (Tabassum et al., 2016). Nor this is reflected in the results from this study. Mannitol is the carbohydrate with the highest extraction yield after EAE in A.

nodosum, as well as there is a high extraction yield of mannitol after CE compared to Schiener *et al.* (2017) study.

Compared to A. nodosum, there was detected more monomeric sugars in S. latissima, as expected. S. latissima is known as sugar kelp due to its high contents of different carbohydrates, especially mannitol (Sharma et al., 2018). After CE of S. latissima the total carbohydrate content was 12.9% DW of the total algal biomass, whereas after Depol 692 the carbohydrate content was 12.11% DW of the total algal biomass. This is considerably lower than 63.1% DW of algal biomass, reported by Schiener et al. (2015) in S. latissima. This indicates a low extraction yield of carbohydrates after CE and EAE in S. latissima as well. After CE, the carbohydrate content was distributed in 1.65% DW glucose, 0.07% DW xylose, 10.17% DW mannitol and 1.1% DW fucose of the total algal biomass. The carbohydrate content after EAE was distributed in 3.40% DW glucose, 0.49% DW xylose, 7.86% DW mannitol and 0.36% DW fucose of total algal biomass. The extraction yields from CE and EAE are very similar for S. *latissima*. This strengthens the theory that the samples after CE from A. nodosum could have been contaminated, as well as the results could have been influenced by the analysis method. Schiener et al. (2017) reported the carbohydrate composition in biorefined S. latissima harvested February and November was 6.3% DW glucose, 4.5% xylose/mannose/galactose, 3.6% DW mannitol and 0.7% DW fucose of the total algal biomass. Compared to Schiener et al. (2017) study, the carbohydrate extraction yield after CE and EAE are relatively good. The S. latissima studied were harvested in April, when carbohydrates are reported to be at a maximum, whereas storage carbohydrates such as mannitol and laminarin are at a low (Schiener et al., 2015). However, the extraction yield of mannitol is high compared to Schiener et al. (2017) study. The low extraction yield of glucose is reflected in the low amounts of laminarin and cellulose present in the species in April.

4.1.8 MW distribution of polysaccharides

There is no doubt that the extraction process effects the MW of the polysaccharides in the samples, as the MW distribution was quite different after CE compared to EAE in the species two species studied. There were no polysaccharides present in the CE samples higher than the MW range of $3 \times 10^5 - 2 \times 10^8$ Da. This fact suggest that the acid treatment might lead to the degradation of the polysaccharides, in addition to efficiently degrading the algal cell wall. For instance, Phyo *et al.* (2019) states that acidic pH will contribute to the spatial separation of cell wall polysaccharides, supporting this thought.

In contrast to CE, there were found polysaccharides in the MW range between $2 \ge 10^8 - 4 \ge 10^{10}$ Da for both species after EAE. In addition, in *S. latissima*, polysaccharides in the MW range of both $3 \ge 10^5 - 2 \ge 10^8$ Da and $4 \ge 10^{10} - 1 \ge 10^{13}$ Da were detected. This indicates that the ultrafiltration had been efficient in isolating and concentrating high MW compounds to the retentate samples. It also suggests that EAE are better at preserving the structural integrity of the compounds and that the selected enzymes do not degrade the polysaccharides to the same degree as it was observed with acid. However, the target MW of the column was 20 000 000 Da, meaning that these findings are outside the target MW range of the column and therefore separation of the molecules might not be optimal.

As an additional analysis, the peaks of Depol 793 and control retentates (obtained from *A. nodosum*) were fractionated during HP-SEC, to further examine the location of different valuable components in the samples. As these high MW peaks were only observed in the retentate samples (Figure 6), it was suggested that they might contain compounds of interest. After IEX-HPLC-RID and the L-fucose assay of the fractionated peaks from Depol 793 and control from *A. nodosum* there was detected both xylose and fucose in the first peak (Figure 13), representing polysaccharides inside MW range of $2 \times 10^8 - 4 \times 10^{10}$ Da. There was detected glucose, xylose, mannitol and fucose in peak 2 and 3 as well, indicating polysaccharides with MW between 0 - 3×10^5 Da fucose. These results indicates that there is material of interest inside this MW range $2 \times 10^8 - 4 \times 10^{10}$ Da, even though it is outside the standards used in this study, as well as the target MW of the column. As there were identified polysaccharides in the MW range of 4×10^{10} -1 x 10^{13} Da it might be favorable to fractionate a sample from *S. latissima* as well, to analyze the polysaccharides present in this MW range. Due to time limitations, this was not included in this study.

These results raise the question if the selected enzymes were efficient enough in degrading the cell wall and releasing the polysaccharides. In addition, they might imply a complex of polysaccharides, due to the high MW observed in the samples. In general, the HP-SEC results shows a generally higher MW of the polysaccharides after EAE compared to CE, in both species (Table 5 and 6).

4.1.9 Polyphenol content

The estimated polyphenol content in this study was analyzed using a quantitative colorimetric method where Folin-Ciocalteus reagent react with phenolics present forming a blue complex that can be measured (Blainski *et al.*, 2013). Almost no polyphenols were detected in the

samples from for *S. latissima* using this method. In general, the phenolic composition in *S. latissima* is much lower than for *A. nodosum* (Schiener *et al.*, 2017). However, the estimated polyphenol content varied between the samples obtained after CE and EAE. The lowest amounts of polyphenols were detected in the fucoidan pellet and supernatant after CE, suggesting that the high acid concentrations during CE negatively influence the extraction of polyphenols. The CE is also performed under a high temperature which can result in the destruction of polyphenols, as they have shown to be temperature sensitive (Mekinić *et al.*, 2019). The polyphenol content after EAE is much higher and the highest content is found in the retentate samples for all enzymes, where Cellulase 13 provided the highest estimated content (1.08% DW of the sample) (Figure 14). This suggests a high extraction yield of polyphenols after EAE, compared to the findings from Schiener *et al.* (2017), reporting 1.13% DW polyphenol in biorefined algae.

4.1.10 Phlorotannin characterization

As an additional analysis, UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS was added to this study to support the findings after the polyphenols assay, which was a quantitative colorimetric method. This method would also provide insight into the diversity of phenolic compounds in the samples. As the polyphenol content in macroalgae have proven to be problematic, due to the structural complexity of the molecules, quantitative colorimetric assays are often used (Lopes *et al.*, 2018). A disadvantage with these types of assays, are that they only give an indication of the total polyphenol content and provide no information about the diversity of compounds (Blainski *et al.*, 2013). Preferably all samples should have been further analyzed, but due to time limitations, only the samples with positive results from the polyphenol content (Figure 15), that correlated quite well with what was observed in the polyphenol assay (Figure 14). The retentate samples after EAE contained the highest amounts of polyphenols, where in contrast Depol 692 had the highest polyphenol content whereas Cellulase 13 was the enzyme with the lowest polyphenol yield, though it was still higher than the control.

As the Depol 692 retentate sample showed the highest polyphenol content after UPLC-DAD (Figure 15), it will be the basis for the phlorotannin characterization presented in this study and thus the basis for the following discussion. The UV-spectra (Figure 15) of the different samples are at 210 nm, whereas the isolated UV-spectra of Depol 692 retentate sample are presented in the Appendix, Figure A9. The isolated UV-spectra show a maximum

absorbance at approximately 211 and 277 nm. This is very similar to the absorbance maximum of phloroglucinol, reported by Koivikko (2008), which indicates the presence of phlorotannins in the samples.

Table A2 (Appendix) summarizes the monoisotopic masses measured during UPLC-DAD-QToF-MS (Figure 16) and presents the suggested molecular formula of the measured masses. Based on the molecular formula the amount of PGU in the phlorotannin and can be determined. A total of 28 (Figure 17) phlorotannins, ranging from 2-18 PGU were found in the sample. The measured monoisotopic mass of 388.04 Da has a suggested molecular formula of $C_{18}H_{12}O_{10}$ (theoretical mass of 388.04 Da) and can therefore potentially be 7-hydroxyeckol, made up by 3 PGU, reported by Glombitza *et al.* (1985). Another example is the measured monoisotopic mass of 636.07 Da that can potentially be triphlorethohydroxycarmalol, reported by Li *et al.* (1991), having a molecular formula of $C_{30}H_{16}O_{16}$ (theoretical mass of 636.08 Da). However, this molecular formula is made up of 5 PGU, indicating that there are some uncertainties regarding its identity, as several phlorotannins can have the same molecular composition, and therefore the same mass.

However, there are some limitations to this method. It is only able to detect masses of polymers of phenols (phlorotannins) up to ca. 2500 Da. Everything that is bigger will not be shown in the mass spectra. This is unfortunate, as there is detected compounds with a much higher MW in the samples analyzed. Moreover, it is a surprise that the retentate samples contain the highest polyphenol content, as the observed masses are lower than the molecular cut of off the membranes (100 kDa) used under ultrafiltration. This further confirms an insufficient ultrafiltration in concentrating low MW compounds to the permeate samples, observed after HP-SEC (Figure 6, Table 5 and 6). In addition, due to the high complexity of phlorotannins, the more PGU's they are made of – the more different couplings might occur, leading to several phlorotannins having the exact same mass and elemental composition. Therefore, the bigger the phlorotannin is, the harder it is so characterize.

4.2 Hydrolysis with HCl versus H₂SO₄

Different hydrolysis methods have been reported to influence the biomass differently. The reason for including HCl hydrolysis in this experiment was because it was suggested as a pretreatment of the material before L-fucose assay by Megazyme (2018). Manns *et al.* (2014), stated that materials rich in uronic acids were better hydrolyzed with HCl, as a two-step sulphuric acid hydrolysis is unable to completely hydrolyze the β -(1,4) linkages present in

alginate. HCl hydrolysis was therefore included to see how the different hydrolysis methods would influence the yield of valuable components. In this study the alginate content was estimated using a colorimetric method, based on the reaction between concentrated H₂SO₄ and uronic acids in the absence of water, that further reacted with 3,5-Dimethylfenol, producing a red-pink colored chromogen that was measured (Manns *et al.*, 2014). Hydrolysis with HCl resulted in higher alginate yields, compared to hydrolysis with H₂SO₄, confirming Manns *et al.* (2014) observations.

However, hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ have proven to be the better hydrolysis method for quantitative estimation of carbohydrates (Manns *et al.*, 2014). In this study, the estimated monomeric sugar content in both species varied substantially depending on the hydrolysis method used in both species. Hydrolysis with H₂SO₄ resulted in the highest amount of fucose in both species using the L-fucose assay (HCl data not shown). H₂SO₄ hydrolysis resulted in the highest amount of monomeric sugars in the samples obtained after EAE in both species. In contrast, an opposite trend was observed in the samples after CE, where hydrolysis with HCl resulted in the highest yield of monomeric sugar compared to hydrolysis with H₂SO₄. This implies that the optimal hydrolysis method can also vary depending on the choice of extraction method, as well as type of biomass. This suggests that a combination of hydrolysis methods can be favorable, however it is dependent on the material for extraction.

4.3 Limitations and further work

There are several limitations to the study. Every experiment in the study was only conducted once and must be repeated to make any concrete conclusions. As the study was considered to be preliminary, only two parallels were used for the different analyzes. As a result of this, no standard deviations or statistical analysis are included in the thesis.

Due to practical reasons, a generalized extraction method was used for all three enzymes used in this study, so only one control was needed for the process. Ideally, the extraction processes should have been optimized for each enzyme with a control for each process. As none of the enzymes analyzed in this study resulted in remarkable yields, it might be favorable to include several enzymes in a future study to explore if any other enzyme will work better for this specific purpose.

As all analysis methods used in this study were being established along the way, it was hard to keep a streamline process of the experiments. This led to unnecessary storage, freezing and thawing of the samples. As a result, it is reasonable to think that this might have led to precipitation in the samples, that can potentially affect the results. It might therefore be advantageous to perform future projects in a streamline process to avoid this. This was especially the case for the samples obtained after EAE, as this extraction process was conducted at an earlier stage and had to be stored for a longer period of time. In contrast, CE was conducted relatively late in the process and it was thus not necessary to store.

Due to the conflicting fucose results obtained after IEX-HPLC-RID and L-fucose assay, as well as big differences in the estimated carbohydrate content between CE and EAE samples after IEX-HPLC-RID, it raised the question of the sensitivity of the methods. As a result, it might be an idea to replace RID with PAD or similar detectors, to avoid some of the limitations observed with RID. It might also be favorable to analyze the carbohydrate content using another method such as gas chromatography in addition to IEX-HPLC-RID to be able to compare the results. This would give an indication if the carbohydrate analysis gave trustworthy results. Due to time limitations this was not possible for this project but can be a suggestion for future projects.

The first natural step after this study would be to optimize the extraction process for one selected enzyme that proved to be efficient for this purpose, as a generalized method was not optimal. The next step would be to would be to purify the isolated fucoidan to remove all impurities, as it is still considered crude type. This can for example be done by using IEX, SEC and affinity chromatography (Zayed *et al.*, 2020b). After the fucoidan molecules has been purified structure characterization with NMR can be done to determine sulphate content and substitutions. As fucoidans are bioactive molecules, different bioactivity test could be performed to determine the activity of the isolated fucoidan.

5 Conclusion

The main goal of this project was to compare the efficiency and yield of a new green method of extraction (EAE) against a selected conventional method (CE), where the main target compound for comparison was fucoidan. CE resulted in the highest extraction yield of fucoidan in both species studied. However, compared to literature values, the extraction yield from *A*. *nodosum* is considered to be low. In general, CE resulted in the highest extraction yield of all valuable components analyzed in this study, except for polyphenols.

Based on the results obtained in this study, none of the three enzymes used in the EAE method can be recommended for extraction of valuable components from macroalgae, due to low efficiency/yield of selected target molecules compared to the untreated control and CE. However, all enzymes showed a potential in degrading the algal cell wall, but further studies are needed to make thorough conclusions on this aspect.

Alginate was precipitated from the samples with CaCl₂ in both extraction methods, and this method proved to be efficient in removing alginate from the samples.

Different methods for fucoidan isolation were used in the two extraction protocols. Ethanol was used for fucoidan precipitation in the samples after CE, and this method proved to be inefficient in isolating fucoidan. Ultrafiltration, which was used as a greener alternative for isolation of fucoidan from the samples, resulting in fucose rich retentate samples from EAE. This method proved to be efficient, to some extent, in isolating fucoidan. However, substantial amounts of fucose were also detected in the alginate samples, indicating coextraction of fucoidan with the alginate.

The extraction yield of carbohydrates was in general low for both species studied, using both extraction methods. However, mannitol was successfully extracted from *S. latissima* after both CE and EAE. The extraction yield of polyphenols in the samples after EAE from *A. nodosum* was good, compared to CE, where very little or no polyphenols were detected.

Finally, two different acid hydrolysis methods were compared in this study. The results obtained indicate that the choice of hydrolysis methods vary depending on the extraction method, as well as the type of biomass. This suggest that a combination of hydrolysis methods can be favorable for extraction of valuable components from macroalgae.

References

- Afonso, N., Catarino, M., Silva, A., & Cardoso, S. (2019). Brown macroalgae as valuable food ingredients. *Antioxidants*, 8, 365. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8090365</u>
- Ale, M. T., Mikkelsen, J. D., & Meyer, A. S. (2011). Important determinants for fucoidan bioactivity: A critical review of structure-function relations and extraction methods for fucose-containing sulfated polysaccharides from brown seaweeds. *Mar Drugs*, 9(10). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md9102106</u>
- Ale, M. T., & Meyer, A. S. (2013). Fucoidans from brown seaweeds: an update on structures, extraction techniques and use of enzymes as tools for structural elucidation. RSC Advances, 3(22), 8131-8141. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C3RA23373A</u>
- Aminina, N. M., Karaulova, E. P., Vishnevskaya, T. I., Yakush, E. V., Kim, Y.-K., Nam, K.-H., *et al.* (2020). Characteristics of polyphenolic content in brown algae of the Pacific coast of Russia. *Molecules*, 25(17). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25173909</u>
- Barbosa, M., Lopes, G., Andrade, P. B., & Valentão, P. (2019). Bioprospecting of brown seaweeds for biotechnological applications: Phlorotannin actions in inflammation and allergy network. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 86, 153-171. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2019.02.037
- Batool, A., & Menaa, F. (2020). Chapter 13 Concentration and purification of seaweed components by chromatography methods. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 315-370): Elsevier. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00013-5</u>
- Biocatalysts. (2015a). Cellulase 13L (C013L). Retrieved from <u>https://www.biocatalysts.com/enzyme-products/</u> Accessed 20.11.2020
- Biocatalysts. (2015b). Depol 692L (D692L). Retrieved from <u>https://www.biocatalysts.com/enzyme-products/</u> Accessed 20.11.2020 Disect these (2015c) Depol 702L (D702L). Detrieved from
- Biocatalysts. (2015c). Depol 793L (D793L). Retrieved from <u>https://www.biocatalysts.com/enzyme-products/</u> Acessed on 20.11.2020
- Blainski, A., Lopes, G. C., & de Mello, J. C. P. (2013). Application and analysis of the folin ciocalteu method for the determination of the total phenolic content from *Limonium brasiliense* L. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 18(6), 6852-6865. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules18066852</u>
- Brown, E. M., Allsopp, P. J., Magee, P. J., Gill, C. I., Nitecki, S., Strain, C. R., et al. (2014). Seaweed and human health. *Nutrition Reviews*, 72(3), 205-216. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nure.12091</u>
- Carvalho, D. N., Inácio, A. R., Sousa, R. O., Reis, R. L., & Silva, T. H. (2020). Chapter 18 -Seaweed polysaccharides as sustainable building blocks for biomaterials in tissue engineering. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 543-587): Elsevier. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00019-6</u>
- Creis, E., Ar Gall, E., & Potin, P. (2018). Ubiquitous phlorotannins prospects and perspectives. In *Blue Biotechnology* (pp. 67-116). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527801718.ch3</u>
- Cumashi, A., Ushakova, N. A., Preobrazhenskaya, M. E., D'Incecco, A., Piccoli, A., Totani, L., et al. (2007). A comparative study of the anti-inflammatory, anticoagulant, antiangiogenic, and antiadhesive activities of nine different fucoidans from brown seaweeds. *Glycobiology*, 17(5), 541-552. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/glycob/cwm014</u>

- El Gamal, A. A. (2010). Biological importance of marine algae. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal, 18*(1), 1-25. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2009.12.001</u>
- FAO. (2018). The global status of seaweed production, trade and utilization. Globefish Research Programme Volume 124. Rome. 120 pp. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. Retrieved from fao.org: <u>http://www.fao.org/3/CA1121EN/ca1121en.pdf</u>. Accessed 25.11.2020
- Ferreres, F., Lopes, G., Gil-Izquierdo, A., Andrade, P. B., Sousa, C., Mouga, T., *et al.* (2012). Phlorotannin extracts from Fucales characterized by HPLC-DAD-ESI-MSn: Approaches to hyaluronidase inhibitory capacity and antioxidant properties. *Mar Drugs*, *10*(12), 2766-2781. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md10122766</u>
- Fletcher, H. R., Biller, P., Ross, A. B., & Adams, J. M. M. (2017). The seasonal variation of fucoidan within three species of brown macroalgae. *Algal Research*, 22, 79-86. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2016.10.015
- Flórez-Fernández, N., Balboa, E. M., & Domínguez, H. (2020). Extraction and purification of fucoidan from marine sources. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Biotechnology* (pp. 1093-1125). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119143802.ch44</u>
- Forbord, S., Matsson, S., Brodahl, G., Bluhm, B., Broch, O., Handå, A., *et al.* (2020). Latitudinal, seasonal and depth-dependent variation in growth, chemical composition and biofouling of cultivated *Saccharina latissima* (Phaeophyceae) along the Norwegian coast. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, *32*. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-020-02038-y
- Galant, A. L., Kaufman, R. C., & Wilson, J. D. (2015). Glucose: Detection and analysis. *Food Chemistry*, 188, 149-160. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.04.071</u>
- Garcia-Vaquero, M., Rajauria, G., O'Doherty, J. V., & Sweeney, T. (2017). Polysaccharides from macroalgae: Recent advances, innovative technologies and challenges in extraction and purification. *Food Research International*, 99, 1011-1020. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2016.11.016</u>
- Garcia-Vaquero, M., Rajauria, G., & Tiwari, B. (2020). Chapter 7 Conventional extraction techniques: Solvent extraction. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 171-189): Elsevier. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00006-8</u>
- Getachew, A. T., Jacobsen, C., & Holdt, S. L. (2020). Emerging technologies for the extraction of marine phenolics: Opportunities and challenges. *Mar Drugs*, 18(8), 389. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md18080389</u>
- Giones, F., Laufs, D., & Schultz, C. (2020). Co-creating science commercialization opportunities for blue biotechnologies: The FucoSan Project. *Sustainability*, *12*(14). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12145578</u>
- Glombitza, K.-W., & Gerstberger, G. (1985). Phlorotannins with dibenzodioxin structural elements from the brown alga *Eisenia arborea*. *Phytochemistry*, 24(3), 543-551. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)80764-5</u>
- González-Ballesteros, N., & Rodríguez-Argüelles, M. C. (2020). Chapter 17 Seaweeds: A promising bionanofactory for ecofriendly synthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 507-541): Elsevier. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00018-4</u>
- Gupta, S., & Abu-Ghannam, N. (2011). Bioactive potential and possible health effects of edible brown seaweeds. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 22(6), 315-326. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2011.03.011</u>
- Hamid, N., Ma, Q., Boulom, S., Liu, T., Zheng, Z., Balbas, J., *et al.* (2015). Chapter 8 -Seaweed minor constituents. In B. K. Tiwari & D. J. Troy (Eds.), *Seaweed*

Sustainability (pp. 193-242). San Diego: Academic Press. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418697-2.00008-8</u>

- Heckbert, S., Costanza, R., Poloczanska, E. S., & Richardson, A. J. (2011). 12.10 Climate regulation as a service from estuarine and coastal ecosystems. In E. Wolanski & D. McLusky (Eds.), *Treatise on Estuarine and Coastal Science* (pp. 199-216). Waltham: Academic Press. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374711-2.01211-0</u>
- Heffernan, N., Brunton, N. P., FitzGerald, R. J., & Smyth, T. J. (2015). Profiling of the molecular weight and structural isomer abundance of macroalgae-derived phlorotannins. *Mar Drugs*, 13(1), 509-528. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md13010509</u>
- Ho, C. S., Lam, C. W. K., Chan, M. H. M., Cheung, R. C. K., Law, L. K., Lit, L. C. W., et al. (2003). Electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry: principles and clinical applications. *The Clinical biochemist. Reviews*, 24(1), 3-12. Retrieved from <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18568044</u>
- Holdt, S., & Kraan, S. (2011). Bioactive compounds in seaweed: Functional food applications and legislation. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 23, 543-597. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-010-9632-5</u>
- Hreggviðsson, G. Ó., Nordberg-Karlsson, E. M., Tøndervik, A., Aachmann, F. L., Dobruchowska, J. M., Linares-Pastén, J., *et al.* (2020). Chapter 16 - Biocatalytic refining of polysaccharides from brown seaweeds. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 447-504): Elsevier. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00016-0
- Hunt, B., & Vincent, A. C. J. (2006). Scale and Sustainability of Marine Bioprospecting for Pharmaceuticals. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 35(2), 57-64, 58. Retrieved from <u>https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447(2006)35[57:SASOMB]2.0.CO;2</u>
- Jensen, H. M., Larsen, F. H., & Engelsen, S. B. (2015). Characterization of alginates by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and vibrational spectroscopy (IR, NIR, Raman) in combination with chemometrics. In D. B. Stengel & S. Connan (Eds.), *Natural Products From Marine Algae: Methods and Protocols* (pp. 347-363). New York, NY: Springer New York. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2684-8_22</u>
- Jiménez-Escrig, A., Gómez-Ordóñez, E., & Rupérez, P. (2012). Brown and red seaweeds as potential sources of antioxidant nutraceuticals. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 24(5), 1123-1132. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-011-9742-8
- Kadam, S. U., Tiwari, B. K., & O'Donnell, C. P. (2013). Application of novel extraction technologies for bioactives from marine algae. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 61(20), 4667-4675. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jf400819p</u>
- Kadam, S. U., Álvarez, C., Tiwari, B. K., & O'Donnell, C. P. (2015a). Chapter 9 Extraction of biomolecules from seaweeds. In B. K. Tiwari & D. J. Troy (Eds.), *Seaweed Sustainability* (pp. 243-269). San Diego: Academic Press. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418697-2.00009-X</u>
- Kadam, S. U., Donnell, C. P., Rai, D. K., Hossain, M. B., Burgess, C. M., Walsh, D., et al. (2015b). Laminarin from irish brown seaweeds Ascophyllum nodosum and Laminaria hyperborea: Ultrasound assisted extraction, characterization and bioactivity. Mar Drugs, 13(7). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md13074270</u>
- Kadam, S. U., Álvarez, C., Tiwari, B. K., & O'Donnell, C. P. (2017). Extraction and characterization of protein from Irish brown seaweed *Ascophyllum nodosum*. *Food Research International*, *99*, 1021-1027. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2016.07.018
- Koivikko, R. (2008). Brown algal phlorotannins: Improving and applying chemical methods. Retrieved from <u>https://www.utupub.fi/handle/10024/36054</u>
- Kornprobst, J. M. (2010). Encyclopedia of marine natural products: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Kumar, V., Latha, S., & Rose, M. (2017). Industrial applications of alginate. In *Industrial Applications of Marine Biopolymers* (pp. 545-575). doi:https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315313535-22
- Kwon, P. S., Oh, H., Kwon, S.-J., Jin, W., Zhang, F., Fraser, K., *et al.* (2020). Sulfated polysaccharides effectively inhibit SARS-CoV-2 in vitro. *Cell Discovery*, *6*(1), 50. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41421-020-00192-8</u>
- Lane, C. E., Mayes, C., Druehl, L. D., & Saunders, G. W. (2006). A multi-gene molecular investigation of the kelp (Laminariales, Phaeophyceae) supports substantial taxonomic re-organization. *Journal of Phycology*, 42(2), 493-512. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2006.00204.x
- Lee, K. Y., & Mooney, D. J. (2012). Alginate: properties and biomedical applications. *Progress in polymer science*, *37*(1), 106-126. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2011.06.003</u>
- Li, B., Lu, F., Wei, X., & Zhao, R. (2008). Fucoidan: structure and bioactivity. *Molecules* (*Basel, Switzerland*), 13(8), 1671-1695. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules13081671
- Li, S.-M., & Glombitza, K.-W. (1991). Carmalols and phlorethofuhalols from the brown alga *Carpophyllum maschalocarpum. Phytochemistry*, *30*(10), 3417-3421. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9422(91)83220-F
- Lopes, G., Barbosa, M., Vallejo, F., Gil-Izquierdo, Á., Andrade, P. B., Valentão, P., *et al.* (2018). Profiling phlorotannins from *Fucus* spp. of the Northern Portuguese coastline: Chemical approach by HPLC-DAD-ESI/MSn and UPLC-ESI-QTOF/MS. *Algal Research*, 29, 113-120. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.11.025
- Machmudah, S., Wahyudiono, Kanda, H., & Goto, M. (2020). Chapter 11 Emerging seaweed extraction techniques: Supercritical fluid extraction. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 257-286): Elsevier. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00010-X</u>
- Macreadie, P. I., Jarvis, J., Trevathan-Tackett, S. M., & Bellgrove, A. (2017). Seagrasses and Macroalgae: Importance, vulnerability and impacts. In *Climate Change Impacts on Fisheries and Aquaculture* (pp. 729-770). doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119154051.ch22
- Manns, D., Deutschle, A. L., Saake, B., & Meyer, A. S. (2014). Methodology for quantitative determination of the carbohydrate composition of brown seaweeds (Laminariaceae). *RSC Advances*, 4(49), 25736-25746. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C4RA03537B</u>
- Manns, D., Nielsen, M. M., Bruhn, A., Saake, B., & Meyer, A. S. (2017). Compositional variations of brown seaweeds *Laminaria digitata* and *Saccharina latissima* in Danish waters. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 29(3), 1493-1506. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-017-1056-z
- Mansoor, M. A. (2005). Liquid chromatography. In *eLS, John Wiley & Sons* (pp. 1-7). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0002679.pub3</u>
- Megazyme. (2018). L-Fucose assay procedure In. <u>www.megazyme.com</u>: Megazyme.
- Mekinić, I. G., Skroza, D., Šimat, V., Hamed, I., Čagalj, M., & Popović Perković, Z. (2019). Phenolic content of brown algae (Pheophyceae) species: Extraction, identification, and quantification. *Biomolecules*, 9(6), 244. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9060244</u>
- Muniglia, L., Claisse, N., Baudelet, P.-H., & Ricochon, G. (2014). Enzymatic aqueous extraction (EAE). In F. Chemat & M. A. Vian (Eds.), *Alternative Solvents for Natural Products Extraction* (pp. 167-204). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-43628-8_8</u>
- Murray, M., Dordevic, A. L., Ryan, L., & Bonham, M. P. (2018). An emerging trend in functional foods for the prevention of cardiovascular disease and diabetes: Marine
algal polyphenols. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 58(8), 1342-1358. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2016.1259209</u>

- Myklestad, S. M., & Granum, E. (2009). Chapter 4.2 Biology of (1,3)-β-Glucans and related glucans in Protozoans and Chromistans. In A. Bacic, G. B. Fincher, & B. A. Stone (Eds.), *Chemistry, Biochemistry, and Biology of 1-3 Beta Glucans and Related Polysaccharides* (pp. 353-385). San Diego: Academic Press. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-373971-1.00010-8
- Nadar, S. S., Rao, P., & Rathod, V. K. (2018). Enzyme assisted extraction of biomolecules as an approach to novel extraction technology: A review. *Food Research International*, 108, 309-330. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.03.006</u>
- Nguyen, T. T., Mikkelsen, M. D., Tran, V. H. N., Trang, V. T. D., Rhein-Knudsen, N., Holck, J., et al. (2020). Enzyme-assisted fucoidan extraction from brown macroalgae Fucus distichus subsp. evanescens and Saccharina latissima. Mar Drugs, 18(6), 296. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/md18060296
- Okolie, C. L., Mason, B., Mohan, A., Pitts, N., & Udenigwe, C. C. (2020). Extraction technology impacts on the structure-function relationship between sodium alginate extracts and their in vitro prebiotic activity. *Food Bioscience*, 37, 100672. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbio.2020.100672</u>
- Padam, B. S., & Chye, F. Y. (2020). Chapter 2 Seaweed components, properties, and applications. In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), *Sustainable Seaweed Technologies* (pp. 33-87): Elsevier. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-</u> 7.00002-0
- Peng, Y., Hu, J., Yang, B., Lin, X.-P., Zhou, X.-F., Yang, X.-W., et al. (2015). Chapter 5 -Chemical composition of seaweeds. In B. K. Tiwari & D. J. Troy (Eds.), Seaweed Sustainability (pp. 79-124). San Diego: Academic Press. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418697-2.00005-2
- Pereira, L. (2015). Seaweed Flora of the European North Atlantic and Mediterranean. In S.-K. Kim (Ed.), Springer Handbook of Marine Biotechnology (pp. 65-178). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-53971-8_6</u>
- Pereira, L., Morrison, L., Shukla, P. S., & Critchley, A. T. (2020). A concise review of the brown macroalga Ascophyllum nodosum (Linnaeus) Le Jolis. Journal of Applied Phycology, 32(6), 3561-3584. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-020-02246-6
- Phenomenex. (2017). Rezex HPLC columns tips for care and use. Retrieved from <u>https://phenomenex.blob.core.windows.net/documents/a5e9b9b8-8a48-4bc8-b17b-e2a1e46648f8.pdf</u> Accessed 25.03.2021
- Phyo, P., Gu, Y., & Hong, M. (2019). Impact of acidic pH on plant cell wall polysaccharide structure and dynamics: insights into the mechanism of acid growth in plants from solid-state NMR. *Cellulose*, 26(1), 291-304. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-018-2094-7</u>
- Pitt, J. J. (2009). Principles and applications of liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in clinical biochemistry. *The Clinical biochemist. Reviews*, *30*(1), 19-34. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19224008
- Puri, M., Sharma, D., & Barrow, C. J. (2012). Enzyme-assisted extraction of bioactives from plants. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 30(1), 37-44. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2011.06.014
- Puscaselu, R. G., Lobiuc, A., Dimian, M., & Covasa, M. (2020). Alginate: From food industry to biomedical applications and management of metabolic disorders. *Polymers*, 12(10). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/polym12102417</u>

- Rioux, L.-E., & Turgeon, S. L. (2015). Chapter 7 Seaweed carbohydrates. In B. K. Tiwari & D. J. Troy (Eds.), *Seaweed Sustainability* (pp. 141-192). San Diego: Academic Press. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418697-2.00007-6</u>
- Saifullah, S., Olsen, Y., Surilayani, D., & Handå, A. (2021). Carbohydrate of the brown seaweed, *Saccharina latissima*: A review. doi:https://doi.org/10.2991/absr.k.210304.031
- Santos, S. A. O., Félix, R., Pais, A. C. S., Rocha, S. M., & Silvestre, A. J. D. (2019). The quest for phenolic compounds from macroalgae: A review of extraction and identification methodologies. *Biomolecules*, 9(12), 847. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9120847
- Schiener, P., Black, K. D., Stanley, M. S., & Green, D. H. (2015). The seasonal variation in the chemical composition of the kelp species *Laminaria digitata, Laminaria hyperborea, Saccharina latissima* and *Alaria esculenta. Journal of Applied Phycology, 27*(1), 363-373. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-014-0327-1</u>
- Schiener, P., Zhao, S., Theodoridou, K., Carey, M., Mooney-McAuley, K., & Greenwell, C. (2017). The nutritional aspects of biorefined *Saccharina latissima, Ascophyllum* nodosum and Palmaria palmata. Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery, 7(2), 221-235. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-016-0227-5</u>
- Senyuva, H. (2014). Analytical methods: Overview of methods of analysis for chemical hazards. In Y. Motarjemi (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Food Safety* (pp. 152-158). Waltham: Academic Press. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-378612-8.00047-0
- Sharma, S., Neves, L., Funderud, J., Mydland, L. T., Øverland, M., & Horn, S. J. (2018). Seasonal and depth variations in the chemical composition of cultivated *Saccharina latissima*. *Algal Research*, *32*, 107-112. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2018.03.012
- Shodex. (2020). 2020-2021 HPLC columns. Retrieved from <u>https://www.shodexhplc.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/2020CatBinder2RED-</u> OPT1-1-Final2a.pdf Accessed 08.04.2021
- Sleno, L. (2012). The use of mass defect in modern mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry*, 47(2), 226-236. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.2953</u>
- Steevensz, A., Mackinnon, S., Hankinson, R., Craft, C., Connan, S., Stengel, D., *et al.* (2012). Profiling phlorotannins in brown macroalgae by liquid chromatography-high resolution mass spectrometry. *Phytochemical analysis : PCA*, 23, 547-553. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pca.2354</u>
- Sterner, M., Sodré Ribeiro, M., Gröndahl, F., & Edlund, U. (2017). Cyclic fractionation process for *Saccharina latissima* using aqueous chelator and ion exchange resin. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 29, 1-15. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-017-1176-5</u>
- Swartz, M. (2010). HPLC detectors: A brief review. Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies, 33(9-12), 1130-1150. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/10826076.2010.484356
- Tabassum, M. R., Xia, A., & Murphy, J. D. (2016). Seasonal variation of chemical composition and biomethane production from the brown seaweed Ascophyllum nodosum. Bioresource Technology, 216, 219-226. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.05.071
- Terme, N., Hardouin, K., Cortès, H. P., Peñuela, A., Freile-Pelegrín, Y., Robledo, D., et al. (2020). Chapter 10 - Emerging seaweed extraction techniques: Enzyme-assisted extraction a key step of seaweed biorefinery? In M. D. Torres, S. Kraan, & H. Dominguez (Eds.), Sustainable Seaweed Technologies (pp. 225-256): Elsevier. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817943-7.00009-3

- Tiwari, B. K., & Troy, D. J. (2015). Chapter 1 Seaweed sustainability food and nonfood applications. In B. K. Tiwari & D. J. Troy (Eds.), *Seaweed Sustainability* (pp. 1-6). San Diego: Academic Press. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-418697-2.00001-5</u>
- Todd, J. F. J. (1991). Recommendations for nomenclature and symbolism for mass spectroscopy (including an appendix of terms used in vacuum technology). (Recommendations 1991). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 63(10), 1541-1566. doi:https://doi.org/10.1351/pac199163101541
- Transgenomic. (2007). Chromatography application notes organic acids analysis HPLC columns. Retrieved from <u>https://vercopak.com.tw/document/09-</u> <u>7Transgenomic%20Application%20Notes%20on%20Organic%20Acid%20Analysis.p</u> <u>df</u> Accesssed 25.03.2021
- Usov, A. I., Bilan, M. I., & Klochkova, N. G. (1995). Polysaccharides of algae. 48.
 Polysaccharide composition of several calcareous red algae: Isolation of alginate from *Corallina pilulifera* P. et R. (Rhodophyta, Corallinaceae). 38(1-6), 43-52. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1515/botm.1995.38.1-6.43</u>
- Wijesinghe, W. A. J. P., & Jeon, Y.-J. (2012). Enzyme-assistant extraction (EAE) of bioactive components: A useful approach for recovery of industrially important metabolites from seaweeds: A review. *Fitoterapia*, 83(1), 6-12. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fitote.2011.10.016
- Zayed, A., El-Aasr, M., Ibrahim, A.-R. S., & Ulber, R. (2020a). Fucoidan characterization: Determination of purity and physicochemical and chemical properties. *Mar Drugs*, 18(11). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md18110571</u>
- Zayed, A., & Ulber, R. (2020b). Fucoidans: Downstream processes and recent applications. *Mar Drugs*, 18(3), 170. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/md18030170</u>
- Zhang, K., Kurita, K. L., Venkatramani, C., & Russell, D. (2019). Seeking universal detectors for analytical characterizations. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 162, 192-204. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2018.09.029</u>
- Zhang, Q., Zhang, J., Shen, J., Silva, A., Dennis, D. A., & Barrow, C. J. (2006). A simple 96well microplate method for estimation of total polyphenol content in seaweeds. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 18(3), 445-450. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-006-9048-4</u>

Appendix



Figure A1. Standard curve for glucose at concentrations of 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.5 g/L obtained after carbohydrate analysis using ion exchange – high performance liquid chromatography – refractive index detector (IEX-HPLC-RID). The equation for the standard curve was used to estimate the total glucose content in the samples.



Figure A2. Standard curve for xylose at concentrations of 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.5 g/L obtained after carbohydrate analysis using ion exchange – high performance liquid chromatography – refractive index detector (IEX-HPLC-RID). The equation for the standard curve was used to estimate the total xylose content in the samples.



Figure A3. Standard curve for mannitol at concentrations of 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.5 g/L obtained after carbohydrate analysis using ion exchange – high performance liquid chromatography – refractive index detector (IEX-HPLC-RID). The equation for the standard curve was used to estimate the total mannitol content in the samples.



Figure A4. Standard curve for fucose at concentrations of 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.5 g/L obtained after carbohydrate analysis using ion exchange – high performance liquid chromatography – refractive index detector (IEX-HPLC-RID). The equation for the standard curve was used to estimate the total fucose content in the samples.



Figure A5. Standard curve for sodium alginate at concentrations of 15.6, 31.2, 62.5, 125, 250 and 500 μ g/mL obtained after alginate assay. The equation for the standard curve was used to estimate the total sodium alginate content in the samples.



Figure A6. Standard curve for phloroglucinol at concentrations of 6.5, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100 μ g/mL obtained after polyphenol assay. The equation for the standard curve was used to estimate total polyphenol content in the samples.



Figure A7. High performance – size exclusion chromatography (HP-SEC) chromatogram of Depol 692 retentate (R) from *A. nodosum*. The x-axis displays the retention time in minutes while the y-axis shows the relative intensity of the refractive index in mV.



Figure A8. Overlaying chromatograms showing the retention times of the different standards, glucose (black), xylose (pink), mannitol (blue) and fucose (brown), all run at the highest concentration of 2.5 g/L. The x-axis displays the retention time in minutes while the y-axis shows the relative intensity of the refractive index in uV.



Figure A9. UV-spectrum of the phlorotannin-rich area observed after HPLC-DAD analysis of the Depol 692 retentate from *A. nodosum*. The spectrum is recorded at retention time 5.404 min. The y-axis shows the absorbance (mAU), while x-axis shows the wavelength (nm).

Table A1. Summary of the characteristics of each pullulan samples used as standard for analysis of molecular weight (MW) distribution in the samples. M_p = Peak molecular weight, M_w = weight average molecular weight, and M_n = number average molecular weight.

Pullulan sample	M _p	$\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{w}}$	M _n	Retention time
				(min)
Pullulan NP0	1600000	1600000	1600000	21.9
Pullulan NP1	710000	788000	641000	22.4
Pullulan NP2	380000	404000	358000	23.3
Pullulan NP4	106000	112000	100000	24.8
Pullulan NP7	11200	11800	10700	26.2
Pullulan NP8	5600	5900	5400	26.4
Pullulan NP9	1080	1320	1080	26.9

Table A2. Potential phlorotannins detected using ultra performance – liquid chromatography Quadruple Time of Flight (UPLC-QToF), in the Depol 692 retentate sample from *A. nodosum*. The number of phloroglucinol units (PGU) of the potential phlorotannin is listed as well as suggestion of potential phlorotannins based on already characterized phlorotannins from the MarinLit database (http://pubs.rsc.org/marinlit).

Potential phlorotannin	Suggested	Measured	Number
	Molecular	Monoisotopic	of PGU
	Formula	Mass	
diphlorethol	C12H10O6	250.05	2
	C12H8O7	264.03	2
triphlorethol-A	C18H14O9	374.06	3
7-hydroxyeckol	C18H12O10	388.04	3
tetraphlorethol-A	C24H18O12	498.08	4
diphlorethohydroxycarmalol-A	C24H16O13	512.06	4
difucodiphlorethol-A	C30H22O15	622.10	5
triphlorethohydroxycarmalol	C30H20O16	636.07	5
bisfucotriphlorethol-B	C36H26O18	746.11	6
	C36H24O19	760.09	6
trifucotriphlorethol A	C42H30O21	870.12	7
	C42H28O22	884.11	7
octaphlorethol A	C48H34O24	994.13	8
	C48H32O25	1008.12	8
	C54H36O28	1132.14	9
bisfucoheptaphlorethol-A	C60H42O30	1242.17	10
	C60H40O31	1256.15	10
	C66H44O34	1380.17	11
	C72H48O37	1504.19	12
	C78H54O39	1614.22	13
	C78H52O40	1628.20	13
	C84H60O42	1740.26	14
	C84H56O43	1752.22	14
	C90H64O45	1864.27	15
	C90H60O46	1876.23	15
	C96H68O48	1988.29	16
	C96H64O49	2000.24	16
	C102H72O51	2112.30	17
	C102H68O52	2125.27	17
	C108H74O54	2234.30	18

